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RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS 

• Completed a licensing agreement with Novo Nordisk
A/S (“Novo Nordisk”) for the Islet Neogenesis Therapy
(“I.N.T.™”) technology 

• Received clearance to initiate an exploratory Phase IIa
clinical trial to evaluate efficacy, safety and tolerability
for E1-I.N.T.™ in patients with type I diabetes

• Received approval for a Phase II clinical trial for 
our Interferon Enhancing Therapy (“I.E.T.”) product,
MS-I.E.T., in patients with multiple sclerosis (“MS”) 

• Successfully completed an extended Phase I clinical
trial for our diabetes product, E1-I.N.T.™

• Identified three new product opportunities, GLP1-I.N.T.™
for diabetes, HCV-I.E.T for hepatitis C and I.N.T.™ for
transplantation

• Strengthened the patent position for I.N.T.™ through
the issuance of its third United States patent and its
first European patent

• Raised $21.5 million through a private placement and
two Novo Nordisk equity investments

• Graduated to the Toronto Stock Exchange 

• Sold our interests in Stem Cell Therapeutics Inc.

• Further strengthened our management team 

FISCAL 2005 TARGETED MILESTONES

• Commence enrollment for a Phase II clinical trial for
MS-I.E.T. in patients with MS

• Commence enrollment for a clinical trial for 
E1-I.N.T.™ in patients with type I diabetes to evaluate
efficacy, safety and tolerability

• Initiate and commence enrollment for a clinical trial
for E1-I.N.T.™ in patients with type II diabetes to
evaluate efficacy, safety and tolerability

• Commence a Phase I/II clinical trial for HCV-I.E.T. in
patients with hepatitis C

• Complete pre-clinical efficacy and toxicity studies for
GLP1-I.N.T.™, in partnership with Novo Nordisk

• Identify a partner for one of the I.E.T. technology products

• Add a new product/technology to our development
pipeline

• Continue to broaden our intellectual property portfolio

ISLET NEOGENESIS THERAPY (I.N.T.™)

INTERFERON ENHANCING THERAPY (I.E.T.)

DIABETES

E1-I.N.T.™ 

GLP1-I.N.T.™ 

I.N.T.™-3

I.N.T.™ FOR TRANSPLANTATION

R&D PRE-CLINICAL PHASE I PHASE II PHASE III MARKET

R&D PRE-CLINICAL PHASE I PHASE II PHASE III MARKET

TRANSITION PRODUCT PIPELINE

MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

MS-I.E.T. 

HEPATITIS C

HCV-I.E.T.

Licensed to Novo Nordisk
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

During fiscal 2004, by every measure — partnering success, expanding product opportunities, clinical trial progress, and
financial strength — Transition proved it has the right business model to take the Company to the next level. Without question,
it was important to demonstrate this year that we could not only advance our science, but also build a successful business. 

The Transition business model is based on finding attractive early stage technologies, targeting large market opportunities,
and developing these technologies into products which can be partnered with large pharmaceutical companies. By leveraging
our own internal capabilities and a network of strong supporting relationships, we advance products through pre-clinical and
early stage clinical development, adding significant value. We then seek out strategic development partners with the resources
and the abilities to advance the product through later stage clinical trials, regulatory approval and ultimately to market.
Working with these large pharmaceutical partners permits us access to the specialized and capital intensive infrastructure
required for later stage development and commercialization, while still allowing us to realize substantial value from our early-
stage investment and product validation. 

This year, we established numerous value-driving milestones that have resulted in increased shareholder value and liquidity
and have positioned Transition as one of the top performers in the Biotech sector. Through the achievement of many significant
milestones this year I believe we have demonstrated the strength of our business model in four important ways.

Establishing Key Partnerships

One of the most significant milestones we met in the last year was to establish a major corporate partnership. In August 2004,
we signed a definitive licensing agreement with Novo Nordisk A/S (“Novo Nordisk”), a global leader in the diabetes space, to
license our Islet Neogenesis Therapy (“I.N.T.™”) technology. Under the terms of the licensing agreement, Novo Nordisk received
exclusive worldwide rights to Transition’s I.N.T.™ technology except for I.N.T.™ for transplantation. In exchange for this license,
Novo Nordisk agreed to make up-front and milestone payments which, assuming all development milestones are achieved, will
total U.S. $48 million, an equity investment in Transition of $6 million, commercial milestone payments and royalty payments on
future net sales and will also assume all future costs for the development of the licensed I.N.T.™ technology.

The completion of this partnership represents a key milestone for Transition and provides clear validation of both our business
model and our capability to identify and develop technologies that can be partnered with large pharmaceutical companies. The
funds from this partnership will help facilitate future product development across our pipeline and provides us with a partner
that has the infrastructure and resources to complete late stage clinical trials and commercialize a product.

Expanding Product Opportunities

What is different about our approach from many other biopharmaceutical companies is that many of our products are designed
to enhance the action of known compounds. The benefits of this approach, is that there is data available regarding these known
compounds and therefore, product development can proceed at a faster pace and with reduced risk versus development of
completely new chemical entities. Indeed, over the last few years, many of the biggest industry breakthroughs have come from
combining drugs that work well together and show synergy. 
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“THIS YEAR, IT WAS IMPORTANT TO NOT ONLY ADVANCE OUR SCIENCE, BUT

ALSO DEMONSTRATE THAT WE KNOW HOW TO RUN A SUCCESSFUL BUSINESS.  BY

LEVERAGING OUR STRONG SCIENCE AND BUSINESS WE ARE NOW POISED TO

CAPITALIZE ON KEY OPPORTUNITIES TO BUILD LONG-TERM SHAREHOLDER

VALUE.” – DR. TONY CRUZ, CHAIRMAN AND CEO

This is the premise of Transition’s two lead technologies, I.N.T.™ and I.E.T. By considering the combination of known
compounds, Transition has been able to broaden its original technologies and introduce two new product opportunities: 
GLP-1-I.N.T.™ for diabetes; and HCV-I.E.T. for hepatitis C. 

By expanding our product opportunities, we have decreased our risk profile, increased our partnership opportunities and
improved our chances of developing a successful product.

Continuing Clinical Trial Success

We continue to actively advance our technologies through clinical development in order to maximize value and attract
partnership opportunities. During fiscal 2004, we successfully completed an extended Phase I clinical trial for E1-I.N.T.™ and
subsequent to the fiscal year end, Transition received clearance from the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”)
to initiate a clinical trial to evaluate efficacy, safety and tolerability for E1-I.N.T.™ in patients with type I diabetes. 

We have also continued to advance our I.E.T. technology and have commenced a Phase II clinical trial for MS-I.E.T in patients
with MS. Enrollment for this trial is expected to begin by the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2005. 

Building Financial Strength

Transition remains on a strong financial footing. During the past year we raised gross proceeds of $21.5 million through the
completion of a private placement and two Novo Nordisk equity investments. Transition operates with a very lean infrastructure
in order to minimize our burn rate and maximize our investment in drug development. We believe in using every dollar to create
value, not infrastructure. 

The confidence the market has shown in Transition is based on our rapid product development and our ability to execute
established milestones. A major consequence of the momentum we generated in the last year was our graduation from the
TSX Venture Exchange to the Toronto Stock Exchange. This transition to the senior exchange has allowed us to raise our profile,
and as such, access a broader base of investors and stakeholders.

Looking Forward

The year ahead will see us focus on the clinical development of both our I.N.T.™ and I.E.T. products. For the I.N.T.™ technology
platform, this includes commencing enrollment for an exploratory Phase IIa clinical trial to evaluate efficacy, safety and
tolerability for E1-I.N.T.™ in patients with type I diabetes, initiation of a clinical trial for E1-I.N.T.™ in patients with type II
diabetes and the completion of pre-clinical efficacy and toxicity studies for GLP1- I.N.T.™, in partnership with Novo Nordisk. 

The I.E.T. program will be equally busy as we begin to dose patients in a Phase II clinical trial for MS, commence a Phase I/II
trial in hepatitis C and identify potential partners to support the later stage development of these products.

As we partner products, such as the I.N.T.™ technology, we will continue to develop and/or acquire new products to replenish
our pipeline. Accordingly, we are in the process of evaluating a number of acquisition opportunities.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank our investors and employees for their commitment to Transition. We
have made great strides forward in demonstrating that we are in the business of making a difference, both for those with
debilitating diseases and for our shareholders. It is with great anticipation that I look forward to reporting on our progress in
the year ahead. 

Dr. Tony Cruz,
Chairman and CEO, Transition Therapeutics Inc.



“DURING FISCAL 2004, BY EVERY MEASURE — PARTNERING SUCCESS, EXPANDING

PRODUCT OPPORTUNITIES, CLINICAL TRIAL PROGRESS AND FINANCIAL STRENGTH —

TRANSITION PROVED IT HAS THE RIGHT BUSINESS MODEL TO TAKE THE COMPANY TO THE

NEXT LEVEL.” – DR. TONY CRUZ, CHAIRMAN AND CEO



5We are in the business of developing technologies and building
products that we believe will make a difference in the fight
against serious diseases. Our therapeutic focus is presently in
diabetes, multiple sclerosis (“MS”) and hepatitis C.

Transition is led by Dr. Tony Cruz, a professor at the University
of Toronto, a senior scientist at Mt. Sinai Hospital in Toronto,
and co-founder of Angiotech Pharmaceuticals, one of Canada’s
major biotech success stories. Transition is today a viable
biopharmaceutical company that has made significant
advances in both science and business.

The Company’s therapeutic focus is presently on two 
lead programs:

Therapeutic Focus in Diabetes

Islet Neogenesis Therapy (“I.N.T.™”) is a patented diabetes
therapy which offers a new paradigm in the treatment of
insulin-dependent diabetes through the regeneration of insulin
producing cells in the body. Transition, in partnership with Novo
Nordisk, is currently actively developing two I.N.T.™ products,
E1-I.N.T.™ and GLP1-I.N.T.™. 

E1-I.N.T.™ is a combination of Transition’s epidermal growth
factor analogue (“E1”) and gastrin analogue (“G1”) and has
received clearance from the United States Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”) to initiate a clinical trial in patients 
with type I diabetes to evaluate efficacy, safety and tolerability.
GLP1- I.N.T.™ is a combination of one of the leading diabetes
drug candidates, Glucagon-Like-Peptide-1 (“GLP-1”), with 
G1 and is being actively developed in partnership with 
Novo Nordisk.

Therapeutic Focus in Multiple Sclerosis and Hepatitis C

Interferon Enhancing Therapy (“I.E.T.”) combines approved
therapeutic compounds with our proprietary enabling
technology.

The first I.E.T. product, MS-I.E.T., which is the combination of
interferon-β and Transition’s EMZ701, has commenced a Phase
II clinical trial in patients with MS. Transition’s second I.E.T.
product, HCV-I.E.T, which is the combination of interferon-α,
ribavirin and Transition’s EMZ702, is expected to commence a
Phase I/II clinical trial for hepatitis C during the third quarter 
of fiscal 2005.

Recent Product Highlights
• Licensed the I.N.T.™ technology to Novo Nordisk

• Received clearance to initiate an exploratory Phase IIa clinical
trial to evaluate efficacy, safety and tolerability for E1-I.N.T.™
in patients with type I diabetes 

• Received approval for a Phase II clinical trial for MS-I.E.T. in
patients with MS

• Successfully completed an extended Phase I clinical trial 
for E1-I.N.T.™ 

• Strengthened the patent position for the I.N.T.™ technology

• Achieved positive pre-clinical data for a second Islet
Neogenesis Therapy, GLP1-I.N.T.™

• Advanced HCV-I.E.T. into clinical development based on
positive pre-clinical efficacy data

• Identified transplantation as an additional market opportunity
for the I.N.T.™ technology

IN BUSINESS TO MAKE A DIFFERENCE

ISLET NEOGENESIS THERAPY (I.N.T.™)

INTERFERON ENHANCING THERAPY (I.E.T.)

DIABETES
E1-I.N.T.™
GLP1-I.N.T.™
I.N.T.™-3
I.N.T.™ FOR TRANSPLANTATION

MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS
MS-I.E.T. 

HEPATITIS C
HCV-I.E.T.

R&D PRE-CLINICAL PHASE I PHASE II PHASE III MARKET

R&D PRE-CLINICAL PHASE I PHASE II PHASE III MARKET

Licensed to Novo Nordisk





7Transition’s goal is simple: to build a company where science
and business work together to build a better quality of life for
people with such debilitating diseases as diabetes, MS and
hepatitis C while also building value for our shareholders. We
clearly demonstrated the effectiveness of our business model
in fiscal 2004.

Selecting Key Opportunities

Since the Company went public in early 2001, Transition’s vision
has been to build a strong and diverse pipeline with multiple
technologies and product opportunities. Each of our lead
technologies is successfully moving through the clinical trial
stages. Through our early pre-clinical and clinical success, and
the completion of a partnership with Novo Nordisk, we have
proven that we can develop technologies, which have the
potential to attract large pharmaceutical companies.

Developing Multiple Programs

For Transition to become a successful biopharmaceutical
company, it was important to create an infrastructure that is
capable of handling multiple programs simultaneously. This
is both cost-efficient and a way to reduce development risk.
This year, we effectively demonstrated our ability to develop
additional products from single technology platforms, through
the identification of a second I.N.T.™ therapy, GLP1-I.N.T.™,
expanding our I.E.T. technology beyond MS to include a
hepatitis C application, and identifying transplantation as an
additional market opportunity for the I.N.T.™ technology.

Building the Right Partnerships

The next critical stage of our business plan is to identify
partners with the infrastructure and resources to complete late
stage clinical development and product commercialization.
These partnerships will provide Transition with third party
validation, fund the more costly later stage clinical develop-
ment of its lead products, as well as provide revenues through
milestone payments and royalties for the future growth of the
Company. The revenues from these partnerships will also allow
Transition to continually replenish its pipeline while reducing
the need to secure funding from the public markets. This year
we showed our ability to complete partnerships by signing a
licensing agreement with Novo Nordisk.

Maintaining a Strong Pipeline 

The final component of our business model is to maintain a
strong product pipeline. To that end, over the last few months,
we have searched for additional technologies that could be
licensed or acquired to replace the diabetes program that was
licensed to Novo Nordisk. Transition expects to add a new
program to the pipeline in the upcoming year.

THE SYNERGY OF SCIENCE AND BUSINESS 

Advance multiple 
programs

Select impact
products

Build strong intellectual 
property position

Maintain
low burn rate

Investment Return

PRE-CLINICAL  PHASE I  PHASE II

DECISION POINTS TO ADVANCE DEVELOPMENT

REINVEST AND REPLENISH PIPELINE

Animal
efficacy
studies

Human 
safety
studies

Clinical
proof of
concept

Identify
technology

Upfront payments

Milestone payments

Royalties

Research costs

TRANSITION BUSINESS MODEL



MAKING A DIFFERENCE 

FOR THOSE WITH INSULIN-

DEPENDENT DIABETES



9The Disease 

Just what is insulin-dependent diabetes? It’s a chronic, life-
long disease that develops when the pancreas produces
insufficient insulin to properly regulate blood sugar or glucose
levels. Insulin is a hormone released from islet cells located in
the pancreas, which converts sugar, starches and other food
into energy needed for daily life. As a result of insufficient
insulin, diabetics have elevated concentrations of glucose in
their blood, a condition that is called hyperglycemia. If blood
glucose levels are not tightly regulated for long periods of
time, it has devastating effects on many critical organs
including the eyes and the kidneys.

By many estimates, more than 4 million people in the U.S.
alone suffer from insulin-dependent diabetes. Current
treatments include lifestyle changes, oral medications and
insulin therapy, which can help manage, but not cure, the
disease. Transplantation of either the pancreas or islet cells
can fight the disease, but this process is limited by the
availability of organs and cells, and is highly invasive. 

The Science — Regenerating Insulin Producing Cells

Transition has developed I.N.T.™, a patented diabetes therapy
for the treatment of insulin-dependent diabetes. It is based
on the discovery that a short course of injections of naturally
occurring peptides can regenerate insulin-producing cells in
the body. The promise of such a therapy is that it could
eliminate the need for daily insulin injections.

How does it work? Patients with this disease have usually lost
the majority of their insulin-producing islet cells. Transition 

has demonstrated, in several animal models, that by
administering a combination of a gastrin analogue (“G1”) with
Transition’s epidermal growth factor analogue (“E1”) or 
with Glucagon-Like-Peptide-1 (“GLP-1”), the number of new
insulin-secreting islet cells in the pancreas were increased,
levels of pancreatic insulin were restored and glucose levels
in diabetic animals were normalized.

The Business — A $16 Billion Market

It is estimated that the annual cost of treatment for insulin-
dependent diabetics is between approximately U.S. $2,700
and U.S. $4,000. With more than 4 million insulin-dependent
diabetics in the U.S. alone, Transition has an exceptional
market opportunity for its I.N.T.™ therapy.

In August 2004, a licensing agreement was signed with Novo
Nordisk to develop I.N.T.™ for the treatment of diabetes,
providing a strong validation of the Company’s work to date.
In return for exclusive worldwide rights to Transition’s I.N.T.™
technology, Novo Nordisk will provide Transition with up-front
and milestone payments which, assuming all development
milestones are achieved, will total U.S. $48 million, an equity
investment in Transition of $6 million, commercial milestone
payments and royalty payments on future net sales and will
also assume all future costs for the development of the
licensed I.N.T.™ technology.

Transition is currently actively developing two I.N.T.™ products 
in partnership with Novo Nordisk, E1- I.N.T.™ and GLP1-I.N.T.™. 
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BOTH OF OUR I.N.T.™ PRODUCTS ARE PROGRESSING SUCCESSFULLY THROUGH DEVELOPMENT. 

E1-I.N.T.™ HAS RECEIVED CLEARANCE TO INITIATE A CLINICAL TRIAL IN PATIENTS WITH TYPE I

DIABETES TO EVALUATE EFFICACY, SAFETY AND TOLERABILITY AND GLP1-I.N.T.™ IS CURRENTLY IN

PRE-CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT IN PARTNERSHIP WITH NOVO NORDISK. 
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Phase I — Safety Trials

E1-I.N.T.™, a combination of E1 and G1, has successfully
completed two Phase I clinical trials. All subjects in the trial
completed the escalation to maximum planned doses with 
no serious or unexpected adverse events observed. The
conclusion was that E1-I.N.T.™ is safe to administer and is
ready for a clinical trial in diabetic patients. 

Phase IIa — Efficacy and Safety Trials 

Transition has received clearance from the FDA to initiate a
clinical trial for E1-I.N.T.™ in patients with type I diabetes, in 
the United States. This clinical trial will be evaluating efficacy,
safety, and tolerability of a 28-day course of daily E1-I.N.T.™
treatments with a six-month follow-up. In the near future,
Transition plans to expand these trials into type II diabetes
patients. Transition will fund these trials until Novo Nordisk
takes over the program, at its option, at which point Novo Nordisk
will retroactively reimburse Transition for costs incurred.

GLP1- I.N.T.™

Pre-clinical Development — Exploring a Second Islet
Neogenesis Therapy

GLP1-I.N.T.™ is a new therapy that Transition began exploring
this fiscal year. It is a combination of one of the leading diabetes
drug candidates, Glucagon-Like-Peptide-1 (“GLP-1”), with
Transition’s G1. The Company is currently in pre-clinical
development, in partnership with Novo Nordisk. Pre-clinical
efficacy and toxicity studies are being performed with the
expectation of initiating a clinical study in the future. 

E1- I.N.T.™ GLP1- I.N.T.™

ISLET NEOGENESIS THERAPY (I .N.T.™) -  CONT’D

"THE REGENERATIVE APPROACH TO IMPROVE OR INDEED RESTORE NORMAL

PANCREATIC INSULIN PRODUCTION MAY REPRESENT AN EXCITING NEW PARADIGM

IN THE MANAGEMENT OF DIABETES". – BERNARD ZINMAN, M.D., PROFESSOR OF MEDICINE,  

UNIVERSITY OF TORONTO; DIRECTOR, LEADERSHIP SINAI CENTRE FOR DIABETES RESEARCH; SENIOR

SCIENTIST,  SAMUEL LUNENFIELD RESEARCH INSTITUTE
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13The Disease 

MS is a complex and unpredictable progressive disease of 
the central nervous system. A protective sheath around nerve
fibres, called myelin, is destroyed and replaced by sclerotic
patches or plaques. The result is a disruption of the flow of
messages from the brain and a loss of motor functions, often
so severe that everyday tasks such as petting the family dog
become impossible. MS most frequently affects women
between the age of 20 and 40.

According to the US National MS Society and the Multiple
Sclerosis International Federation, MS affects one in 1,000
individuals in US and Europe and an estimated 2.5 million
individuals worldwide. Due to the chronic nature of the disease,
constant medication is required to control the symptoms and
slow its progression.

The Science — Transition’s Interferon Enhancer is 2 to 5
Times More Effective

Transition’s first I.E.T. product, MS-I.E.T., which is the
combination of interferon-β and Transition’s EMZ701 has been
shown, in animal efficacy studies, to significantly inhibit and
slow down the progression of the symptoms of MS. In fact,
based on these studies, it is believed that MS-I.E.T. is two to
five times more effective in inhibiting MS symptoms than the
current approved interferon therapy on its own. MS-I.E.T.’s
efficacy enhancing profile also gives it the potential to reduce 

the effective dose required to control symptoms, thus
minimizing the side effects associated with interferon-β. 

Transition has received approval from Health Canada to begin
a Phase II clinical trial for MS-I.E.T. in patients with MS and
expects to begin enrollment for this trial by the end of the
second quarter of fiscal 2005. As the Company progresses
through this trial, it will be pursuing partnership discussions.

The Business — A U.S. $2.5 Billion Market

The business opportunity for Transition’s novel and potentially
more effective therapy for MS is significant. Presently, interferon-
based products dominate approximately 75% of the MS treatment
market. This market is estimated to be worth in excess of U.S.
$2.5 billion a year. While interferon is the gold standard product,
it offers only 30% efficacy, often produces side effects and does
not provide any long term improvement for the patient. 

Based on studies to date, MS-I.E.T. is expected to be more
effective than interferon-β alone without additional side effects.
Transition believes its combination therapy can make dramatic
inroads into this market.

INTERFERON ENHANCING THERAPY (MS-I .E.T.)

MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS
MS-I.E.T.

R&D PRE-CLINICAL PHASE I PHASE II PHASE III MARKET

“THERE IS A GENERAL NEED TO IMPROVE UPON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF CURRENT

MS TREATMENTS. THE FINDING OF POSITIVE EFFICACY DATA FROM THE MS-I.E.T.

PHASE II CLINICAL TRIAL WOULD THEREFORE BE EXCITING NEWS FOR PATIENTS

WITH MS.” – MARK S.  FREEDMAN,  M.D. , DIRECTOR,  MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS  RESEARCH UNIT,

UNIVERSITY OF OTTAWA AND THE OTTAWA HOSPITAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE
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The Disease 

Hepatitis C is a viral disease of the liver. The disease affects
roughly 4 million people in the United States and about 170
million people worldwide. Each year, there are approximately
25,000 new cases of hepatitis C infection reported in the U.S.
alone. Over time, the disease damages the liver and can lead
to serious consequences, including cirrhosis of the liver, and
some types of liver cancer. Hepatitis C is now the leading
cause of liver disease in the United States and the number
one reason for liver transplantation. 

The Science — Improving Interferon’s Efficacy in Other
Indications

All of the FDA approved therapies for the hepatitis C market
include interferon. Interferon-α, together with ribavirin, is
acknowledged to be the gold standard treatment. However,
many patients do not respond and in fact there is currently no
effective treatment for nearly half of all hepatitis C patients. 

Based on positive pre-clinical data, Transition’s second I.E.T.
product, HCV-I.E.T., which is the combination of interferon-α,
ribavirin and Transition’s EMZ702, is currently being
investigated to improve the current treatment options for
patients with hepatitis C.

Transition’s goal is to enhance the interferon action without
adding toxicities, with the result being an effective treatment
option for a greater population of hepatitis C patients. A 
HCV-I.E.T. Phase I/II clinical study in hepatitis C patients is
planned for the third quarter of fiscal 2005.

The Business — A U.S. $2.5 Billion Market

The hepatitis C therapeutic market is estimated to be worth 
in excess of  U.S. $2.5 billion and Transition believes that its
combination therapy can make a difference by providing a
treatment option for the patients that are currently not
responding to the gold standard treatment.

Transition strengthened its patent position for HCV-I.E.T.
during fiscal 2004, and now believes that this product is well
positioned for partnering. 

INTERFERON ENHANCING THERAPY (I.E.T.)

IN THE WIDELY ACCEPTED SURROGATE MODEL OF THE HEPATITIS C

VIRUS, BOVINE VIRAL DIARRHEA VIRUS, TRANSITION DEMON-

STRATED THAT EMZ702 HAS SYNERGISTIC ANTI-VIRAL EFFECT

WHEN COMBINED WITH INTERFERON-α (47% SYNERGY) OR 

WITH BOTH INTERFERON-α AND RIBAVIRIN (67% SYNERGY).

IN CONTRAST, THE CURRENT STANDARD TREATMENT FOR

HEPATITIS C, INTERFERON-α AND RIBAVIRIN ALONE, HAD ONLY A

24% SYNERGY.

ANTIVIRAL SYNERGY OF INTERFERON-α, RIBAVIRIN
AND EMZ702 COMBINATIONS IN SURROGATE MODEL
OF HEPATITIS C

INTERFERON ENHANCING THERAPY (HCV-I .E.T)

"THE POTENTIALLY STRONG ANTI-VIRAL SYNERGY BETWEEN INTERFERON,

RIBAVIRIN AND TRANSITION'S EMZ702 HOLDS PROMISE FOR AN IMPROVED

TREATMENT FOR HEPATITIS C PATIENTS." – MORRIS SHERMAN, M.D., ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR

OF MEDICINE, UNIVERSITY OF TORONTO

HEPATITIS C
HCV-I.E.T.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

16 THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION SHOULD BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE COMPANY’S AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004 AND THE RELATED NOTES, WHICH ARE PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CANADIAN GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING

PRINCIPLES. THIS MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (“MD&A”) PROVIDES A REVIEW OF THE PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR

ENDED JUNE 30, 2004 AS COMPARED TO THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2003. THIS MD&A INCLUDES FINANCIAL INFORMATION DERIVED FROM THE ANNUAL

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FROM THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. THIS REVIEW WAS 

PERFORMED BY MANAGEMENT WITH INFORMATION AVAILABLE AS OF OCTOBER 18, 2004. 

WHERE “WE”, “US”, “OUR”, “TRANSITION” OR THE “COMPANY” IS USED, IT IS REFERRING TO TRANSITION THERAPEUTICS INC. AND ITS WHOLLY-OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES, UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED. ALL AMOUNTS ARE IN CANADIAN DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED.

FO R WA R D - LO O K I N G  S TAT E M E N T S

To the extent any statements made in this MD&A contain information that is not historical, these statements are forward-
looking statements. These forward-looking statements by their nature involve risks and uncertainties that could cause the
actual results to differ materially from those discussed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements are identified by words such as “expect”, “believe”, “intend”, “anticipate”, “will”, “may”, or other similar
expressions. The Company considers the assumptions on which these forward-looking statements are based to be reasonable
at the time this MD&A was prepared, but cautions the reader that these assumptions may ultimately prove to be incorrect due
to certain risks and uncertainties including, but not limited to, the difficulty of predicting regulatory approvals, acceptance and
demand for new pharmaceutical products, the impact of competitive products and pricing, the Company’s ability to finance,
manufacture and commercialize its products, the protection of intellectual property and any other similar or related risks and
uncertainties. The Company disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

OV E R V IE W

Transition is a product-focused biopharmaceutical company, developing novel therapeutics for disease indications with
large markets. The Company has two lead technologies, Islet Neogenesis Therapy (“I.N.T.™”) for the treatment of diabetes 
and Interferon Enhancing Therapy (“I.E.T.”) for the treatment of multiple sclerosis (“MS”) and hepatitis C. These
technologies have resulted in four lead products E1-I.N.T.™ and GLP1-I.N.T.™ for the treatment of diabetes, MS-I.E.T. for the
treatment of MS and HCV-I.E.T. for the treatment of hepatitis C.

GENERAL RISK FACTORS FOR THE BIOTECHNOLOGY INDUSTRY 

Prospects for companies in the biopharmaceutical industry generally may be regarded as uncertain given the nature of 
the industry and, accordingly, investments in such companies should be regarded as highly speculative. It is not possible 
to predict, based upon studies in animals and early clinical data, whether a new therapeutic or device will prove to be safe
and effective in humans or whether it will ultimately receive regulatory approval. In addition, there is also no assurance that
adequate funds or relationships required to continue product development such as those with employees, collaborators, or
other third parties will be available and sustained. 

If a product is ultimately approved for sale, there is also no assurance that it will ever result in significant revenues or
profitable operations. There are many factors such as competition, patent protection and the regulatory environment that can
influence a product’s profitability potential. 

In addition, due to the speculative nature of this industry, market prices for securities of biotechnology companies may be 
highly volatile and subject to significant fluctuation and may not necessarily be related to the operating or other performances
of such companies. 

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

During fiscal 2004 and up to the date of this MD&A, the Company achieved the following significant milestones: 

• completed a licensing agreement with Novo Nordisk A/S (“Novo Nordisk”) for the I.N.T.™ technology; 

• received clearance to initiate a clinical trial, for E1-I.N.T.™, in patients with type I diabetes to evaluate efficacy, safety
and tolerability;

• received approval to commence a Phase II clinical trial for MS-I.E.T. in patients with MS;

• successfully completed an extended Phase I clinical trial for E1-I.N.T.™;

• identified three new product opportunities, GLP1-I.N.T.™ for diabetes, HCV-I.E.T. for hepatitis C, and I.N.T.™ for transplantation;

• strengthened the patent position for I.N.T.™ through the issuance of its third United States patent and its first European patent;

• raised gross proceeds of $21.5 million through the completion of a private placement and two Novo Nordisk equity investments;
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• graduated from the TSX Venture Exchange to the Toronto Stock Exchange;

• sold its interests in Stem Cell Therapeutics Inc. (“SCT”); and

• further strengthened our management team.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents were $17,641,155 at June 30, 2004, and the net working capital position was
$17,818,393. After completion of a $6 million private placement, with Novo Nordisk, in August 2004, the Company believes
that it has adequate financial resources for anticipated expenditures until early fiscal 2008.

P R OGR AMS

Transition is focused on developing innovative therapies in several distinct areas of opportunity. Transition’s vision is to
build a company that has a strong foundation for growth based on multiple technologies and product opportunities, which
reduces risk and enhances return. The Company’s two lead technologies are as follows:

I.N.T.™ FOR DIABETES

General

Transition has developed a patented diabetes therapy, which offers a new paradigm in the treatment of insulin-dependent
diabetes through the regeneration of insulin producing cells in the body. It is estimated that there are currently more than
4 million people in the U.S. alone that suffer from insulin-dependent diabetes. Transition is currently actively developing
two I.N.T.™ products in partnership with Novo Nordisk, E1- I.N.T.™ and GLP1- I.N.T.™.

Licensing Agreement

In August 2004, the Company signed a licensing agreement (the “Licensing Agreement”) with Novo Nordisk for the
I.N.T.™ technology. Under the terms of the Licensing Agreement, Novo Nordisk received exclusive worldwide rights to the
Company’s I.N.T.™ technology except for I.N.T.™ for transplantation. In exchange for this license, Novo Nordisk agreed to
make up-front and milestone payments which, assuming all development milestones are achieved, will total U.S. $48
million, an equity investment in the Company of $6 million, commercial milestone payments and royalty payments on
future net sales and to also assume all future costs for the development of the licensed I.N.T.™ technology.

During fiscal 2004, Novo Nordisk provided the Company with $652,400 (U.S. $500,000) for the further development of the
I.N.T.™ technology and an option fee of $268,180 (U.S. $200,000). The $920,580 received from Novo Nordisk has been
recorded as deferred revenue and will be taken into revenue over the term of the Licensing Agreement.

E1- I.N.T.™

E1- I.N.T.™, a combination of Transition’s epidermal growth factor analogue (“E1”) and gastrin analogue (“G1”), has
completed two Phase I clinical trials, in which it was shown that E1-I.N.T.™ is safe to administer. Subsequent to the fiscal
year end, Transition received clearance from the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) to initiate a clinical
trial for E1-I.N.T.™ in patients with type I diabetes, in the United States. This clinical trial will be evaluating efficacy, safety,
and tolerability of a 28-day course of daily E1-I.N.T.™ treatments with a six-month follow-up. In the near future, Transition
plans to expand these trials into type II diabetes patients. 

GLP1- I.N.T.™

GLP1- I.N.T.™, a combination of one of the leading diabetes drug candidates, Glucagon-Like-Peptide-1 (“GLP-1”), with G1,
is currently in pre-clinical development in partnership with Novo Nordisk.

Expenditures for the I.N.T.™ Program

During the year ended June 30, 2004, the Company incurred direct research and development costs for this program 
as follows:

I.N.T.™ Program (1)

Clinical studies $ 281,633
Manufacturing $ 381,523
Pre-clinical toxicity studies $ 845,493
Other direct research $ 192,762
TOTAL $ 1,701,411
Notes:
(1) These costs are direct research costs only and do not include patent costs, investment tax credits, salaries and benefits or an allocation of Company overhead.

I.E.T. FOR MS AND HEPATITIS C

Multiple Sclerosis

MS is a complex and unpredictable progressive disease of the central nervous system that can severely debilitate sufferers by
attacking the myelin sheath that surrounds nerve fibres, disrupting the flow of messages from the brain and affecting motor function.
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MS typically afflicts people aged 20 to 40 and more often women than men. It is estimated that 2.5 million people worldwide
suffer from MS.

Interferon-ß products are one of the primary therapeutic options for the treatment of MS and are used to slow disease
progression and palliate symptoms. However, these treatments are not effective in all patients, may have limited duration
of benefit and possess a side effect profile that reduces utility. To enhance the efficacy of interferon-β alone, the Company
has developed MS-I.E.T., a combination of the Company’s EMZ701 and interferon-β. The Company has completed a Phase I
trial for EMZ701 and has commenced a Phase II clinical trial for MS-I.E.T. in patients with MS. The Company expects to
commence enrollment for the Phase II trial by the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2005. 

Hepatitis C

Transition has expanded the I.E.T. technology to include a second product, HCV-I.E.T., which is the combination of interferon-
α, ribavirin and Transition’s EMZ702. HCV-I.E.T. is currently in pre-clinical development and is preparing to commence a Phase
I/II clinical trial in patients with hepatitis C. 

Expenditures for the I.E.T. Program

During the year ended June 30, 2004, the Company incurred direct research and development costs for this program as follows:

I.E.T. Program (1)

Clinical studies $ 26,813
Manufacturing $ 126,592
Pre-clinical toxicity studies $ 57,792
Other direct research $ 36,433
TOTAL $ 247,630
Notes:
(1) These costs are direct research costs only and do not include patent costs, investment tax credits, salaries and benefits or an allocation of Company overhead.

THE NEXT STEPS 

Transition’s plan for each of these programs is to achieve product approval and ultimately significant revenues or royalties.
To achieve product approval, the Company must successfully complete clinical trials and achieve regulatory approval. The
stage of development of the Company’s two lead programs are as follows: 

Subsequent to the fiscal year end, Transition received clearance from the FDA to initiate a clinical trial for E1-I.N.T.™ in
patients with type I diabetes to evaluate efficacy, safety, and tolerability. In the near future, Transition plans to expand these
trials into type II diabetes patients. 

Transition will fund development of these trials until Novo Nordisk takes over the program, at its option, at which point Novo
Nordisk has agreed to retroactively reimburse the Company for costs incurred. The Company is currently completing pre-
clinical efficacy and toxicity studies for GLP1- I.N.T.™, in partnership with Novo Nordisk.

In terms of I.E.T., the Company has commenced a Phase II clinical trial for MS-I.E.T. and expects to begin enrolling MS
patients by the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2005. The Company is also preparing pre-clinical data for the initiation of
a Phase I/II clinical trial for hepatitis C in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. The I.E.T. products are now well positioned for
partnering and the Company is currently pursuing partnership discussions.

R&D PRE-CLINICAL PHASE I PHASE II PHASE III MARKET

ISLET NEOGENESIS THERAPY (I.N.T.™)

INTERFERON ENHANCING THERAPY (I.E.T.)

DIABETES
E1-I.N.T.™

GLP1-I.N.T.™

I.N.T.™-3

I.N.T.™ FOR TRANSPLANTATION

MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS
MS-I.E.T.

HEPATITIS C
HCV-I.E.T. 

R&D PRE-CLINICAL PHASE I PHASE II PHASE III MARKET

Licensed to Novo Nordisk
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S E L E CT E D  A N N U A L  I N FO R M AT I O N

The following table is a summary of selected audited consolidated financial information of the Company for each of the three
most recently completed financial years:

June 30, 2004 June 30, 2003 June 30, 2002
Revenue $ — $ — $ —
Net loss (1) $ 10,559,501 $ 11,583,346 $ 7,791,363
Basic and fully diluted net loss per common share and Class B share $ 0.12 $ 0.21 $ 0.23
Total assets $ 42,229,389 $ 39,880,970 $ 43,208,365
Total long-term liabilities (2) $ 1,465,819 $ 4,785,698 $ 7,568,509
Cash dividends declared per share $ — $ — $ —
Notes:
(1) Net loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items was equivalent to the net loss for such periods.
(2) Total long-term liabilities includes the long-term portion of leasehold inducements, obligations under capital leases and provision for

facility closure as well as future tax liability. 

A N N U A L  R E S U LT S  –  Y E A R  E N D E D  J U N E  3 0 ,  2 0 0 4  C O M PA R E D  TO  Y E A R  E N D E D  J U N E  3 0 ,  2 0 0 3

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, the Company recorded a net loss of $10,559,501 ($0.12 per common and Class B
share) compared to a net loss of $11,583,346 ($0.21 per common and Class B share) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003.
This decrease of $1,023,845 or 9% is primarily due to the following: an increase in interest income and a decrease in research
and development expenses and facility closure costs, partially offset by an increase in general and administrative expenses
and amortization of technology.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, NET

Research and development, net decreased to $3,247,026 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004 from $3,861,319 for the
same period in 2003. This decrease of $614,293 or 16% was primarily the net result of the following: a decrease in clinical
expenses and toxicity study expenses relating to the Company’s I.E.T. technology as the Company prepared to commence a
Phase II clinical trial for MS-I.E.T.; a decrease in facility costs and research and development salaries due to management’s
decision to close the Waratah Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Waratah”) facility in Woburn, MA (the “Woburn Facility”); a decrease
in discovery research expenses due to the stage of the Company’s products; and an increase in investment tax credits,
partially offset by an increase in patent expenses resulting from the Company’s efforts to broaden its patent portfolio around
its leading technologies. The Company anticipates that research and development, net will increase during fiscal 2005, 
as it begins to enroll and dose patients in the MS-I.E.T. Phase II clinical trial, prepares and commences clinical trials for 
E1-I.N.T.™ in patients with type I and type II diabetes including manufacturing E1, prepares and commences for a clinical
trial for HCV-I.E.T. and strengthens its product development team. 

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

General and administrative expenses increased to $2,063,198 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004 from $1,614,461 for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2003. This increase of $448,737 or 28% primarily resulted from an increase in accounting, legal and
regulatory fees primarily resulting from the negotiation of the Licensing Agreement and the Company’s move to the Toronto
Stock Exchange as well as severance costs incurred relating to changes in the Company’s management team, partially offset
by savings realized from the closure of the Woburn Facility. The Company anticipates that general and administrative
expenses will increase during fiscal 2005 as the Company broadens its management team and expands its office facilities.

INTEREST INCOME, NET

Interest income for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, was $261,821 as compared to $39,066 for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2003. This increase of $222,755 or 570% in interest income primarily resulted from higher cash balances during the year
ended June 30, 2004 as compared to the year ended June 30, 2003. Due to the Company completing one private placement and
one Novo Nordisk equity investment during fiscal 2004 and one Novo Nordisk equity investment in early fiscal 2005, interest
income is expected to increase for fiscal 2005.

FACILITY CLOSURE

Facility closure decreased to $61,588 for the year ended June 30, 2004 as compared to $913,772 for the same period in 
2003. In connection with the acquisition of Waratah, in fiscal 2002, the Company consolidated the management team and
determined that it would close the Woburn Facility. During fiscal 2003, as a result of unfavourable real estate market
conditions, the Company determined that the original estimated lease exit costs for the Woburn Facility were no longer
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adequate and that a write-off of certain capital assets acquired from Waratah was required. During fiscal 2004, it was further
determined that an additional accrual for closure costs was required due to a change in estimate for the closure costs.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, the Company’s capital expenditures were $24,541, as compared to $10,229 for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2003. The expenditures during fiscal 2004 were for computer equipment and office equipment. The
Company anticipates an increase in capital expenditures during fiscal 2005 resulting from an expansion of its office facilities.

SALE OF SCT

On October 4, 2004, the Company signed an agreement to sell one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, SCT, whose only significant
asset is technology. SCT is developing a series of regenerative therapies for the treatment of neurological diseases including
stroke and Parkinson’s disease. The agreement includes an upfront cash payment of $325,000, anniversary payments totaling
$3.175 million that may be settled in either cash or shares at the option of the purchaser, and royalties on sales and other income.

The Company anticipates that this transaction will not be recorded as a sale for accounting purposes as the risks and rewards
of the ownership of SCT have not been transferred to the purchaser under the terms of the share purchase agreement. The
Company does not anticipate that the transaction will qualify for sale accounting within the next twelve months. Therefore, the
Company does not plan to reclassify the assets and liabilities of SCT as held for sale as of the date it entered into the transaction.
In the future, if circumstances change such that a transfer of the risks and rewards to the purchaser is expected within the next
twelve months, the Company will reclassify SCT’s assets and liabilities as Held For Sale at that time.

S U M M A R Y  O F  Q U A R T E R LY  R E S U LT S  

The following table is a summary of selected quarterly consolidated financial information of the Company for each of the
eight most recently completed quarters ending at June 30, 2004.

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Year
2004
Revenue $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Net loss (1) $ 2,292,926 $ 2,574,126 $ 2,985,493 $ 2,706,956 $ 10,559,501
Basic and fully diluted 
net loss per Common Share 
and Class B Share $ 0.03 $ 0.03 $ 0.03 $ 0.03 $ 0.12

2003
Revenue $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Net loss (1) $ 3,111,760 $ 2,714,625 $ 3,020,981 $ 2,735,980 $ 11,583,346
Basic and fully diluted 
net loss per Common Share 
and Class B Share $ 0.07 $ 0.05 $ 0.05 $ 0.04 $ 0.21
Notes:
(1) Net loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items was equivalent to the net loss for such periods.

The quarterly results of Transition have remained fairly stable with fluctuation primarily the result of the clinical trials
being performed by the Company, the Company’s closure of the Woburn Facility, amortization of the technology acquired
through the acquisition of SCT, and changes in the recovery of future income taxes and the structure of the Company’s
management team.

FO U R T H  Q U A R T E R  R E S U LT S

The table following is a summary of selected information for the three month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 
June 30, 2003:

2004 2003
Revenue $ — $ —
Research and development, net $ 876,330 $ 741,561
General and administrative $ 671,596 $ 461,843
Interest income, net $ 95,760 $ 8,888
Net loss $ 2,706,956 $ 2,735,980
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

For the three month period ended June 30, 2004, the Company’s net loss decreased slightly to $2,706,956 compared to $2,735,980
for the same period in fiscal 2003. The increase in research and development expenses was primarily the result of an increase in
toxicity studies relating to E1-I.N.T.™ and an increase in patent costs relating to the Company’s efforts to expand its patent
portfolio. General and administrative expenses increased primarily as a result of legal and regulatory fees relating to the
negotiation of the Licensing Agreement and the Company’s move to the Toronto Stock Exchange. The increase in interest income
was the result of higher cash balances due to the Company’s financings completed in July 2003 and February 2004.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company issued 653,586 common shares for total proceeds of $421,912 through
the exercise of 531,711 share purchase warrants and 121,875 stock options. 

C R I T I CA L  AC C O U N T I N G  E S T I M AT E S

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results can differ from those estimates. We have identified the following areas which we
believe require management’s most subjective judgments, often requiring the need to make estimates about the effects of
matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods. 

VALUATION AND AMORTIZATION OF TECHNOLOGY

The Company’s intangible assets are comprised of purchased or licensed pharmaceutical technology. The cost of the
Company’s technology is amortized over an estimated useful life of 5 years. Factors considered in estimating the useful life
of the technology include the expected use of the asset by the Company, legal, regulatory and contractual provisions that may
limit the useful life, the effects of competition and other economic factors, and the level of expenditures required to obtain
the expected future cash flows from the technology. The Company assesses its technology for recoverability whenever
indicators of impairment exist. When the carrying value of an asset is greater than its net recoverable value as determined
on an undiscounted basis, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that its fair value is below the asset’s carrying value.

REFUNDABLE INVESTMENT TAX CREDITS

The Company incurs research and development expenditures which are eligible for refundable investment tax credits from
the provinces of Ontario and Quebec. The investment tax credits recorded are based on our best estimates of amounts
expected to be recovered. Actual investment tax credits received are based on the ultimate determination of the taxation
authorities and, accordingly these amounts may vary from the amounts recorded.

VALUATION ALLOWANCE FOR FUTURE TAX ASSETS

The Company has recorded a valuation allowance on future tax assets primarily related to the carryforward of operating 
losses and research and development expenses. The Company has determined that it is more likely than not that these 
carryforward amounts will not be realized based on historical results and estimated future taxable income. The generation
of future taxable income or the implementation of tax planning strategies could result in the realization of some or all of the
carryforward amounts, which could result in a material change in our net income (loss) through the recovery of future
income taxes. However, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to record future income tax recoveries in 
the future.

EQUITY BASED VALUATIONS

When the Company issued equity based instruments during fiscal 2004, including share purchase warrants, agent
compensation warrants and employee stock options, a fair value was derived for the equity instrument using the Black-
Scholes pricing model. The application of this pricing model required management to make assumptions regarding several
variables, including the period for which the instrument will be outstanding, the price volatility of the Company’s stock over
a relevant timeframe, the determination of a relevant risk free interest rate and an assumption regarding the Company’s
dividend policy in the future.

PROVISION FOR FACILITY CLOSURE

As a result of management’s decision to close the Woburn facility, the Company was required to account for severance, lease
exit costs and capital asset impairment. This accrual for lease exit costs required judgment from management regarding the
ability to sublease the property, market rates for real estate and facility base operating costs. Actual results could differ
materially from the estimates made by management.
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RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED REVENUE

As a result of the Licensing Agreement, the Company has recorded deferred revenue which will be taken into income 
over the term of the Licensing Agreement. As the term of the Licensing Agreement is based on the life of the underlying
patents, which varies among the patents, management has used its judgment to determine an appropriate period over which
to recognize the deferred revenue. Actual results could differ materially from the estimates made by management.

SCT TRANSACTION

On October 4, 2004, the Company signed an agreement to sell one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, SCT. The agreement
includes an upfront cash payment of $325,000, anniversary payments totaling $3.175 million that may be settled in either cash
or shares at the option of the purchaser, and royalties on sales and other income.

Management anticipates that this transaction will not be recorded as a sale for accounting purposes as the risks and rewards
of the ownership of SCT have not been transferred to the purchaser under the terms of the share purchase agreement. This
conclusion required the judgment of management regarding the size of the upfront payment relative to the total purchase
consideration and provisions in the agreement that provide the Company with rights of continuing involvement over the
operations of SCT until the anniversary payments are made. Accordingly, the Company will continue to carry the SCT
technology as an asset and will continue to evaluate its carrying value as described above under, “Valuation and Amortization
of Technology”.

C H A N G E S  A N D  A D O P T I O N S  O F  AC C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Effective July 1, 2002, the Company adopted the recommendations in CICA Handbook Section 3870, “Stock-Based
Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments”, issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”). As
permitted, the Company applied this change prospectively to new awards granted on or after July 1, 2002. Direct awards of
stock to employees and stock and stock options granted to non-employees are recognized in accordance with the fair value
method of accounting for stock-based compensation. Stock options granted to employees, officers and directors are
accounted for using the intrinsic value method of accounting. Accordingly, no compensation cost is recognized when stock
options are granted to employees, officers and directors under the Company’s Stock Option Plan and the Company disclosed
pro forma information for net loss and net loss per common and Class B share, determined as if the Company had accounted
for stock options granted to employees, officers and directors on or after July 1, 2002 under the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based compensation. Effective July 1, 2004, the Company will retroactively adopt the amended CICA
Handbook Section 3870 and use the fair value method of accounting for all stock-based compensation. The adoption of 
this accounting policy, in fiscal 2005, will result in a retroactive charge to deficit for options issued between July 1, 2002 and
June 30, 2004 and will result in a charge to expense for options issued after June 30, 2004.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Effective July 1, 2003, the Company has adopted the new recommendations of CICA Handbook Section 3063, “Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets”. No provision for write-downs with respect to long-lived assets has been made at June 30, 2004.

LIQUIDITY AN D CA PITAL RESOURCES

OVERVIEW

The Company commenced operations in July 1998, and has devoted its resources primarily to fund its research and
development programs. All revenue to date has been generated from interest income on surplus funds and the sale of
reagents. The Company has incurred a cumulative deficit to June 30, 2004 of $32,217,802. Losses are expected to continue
for the next several years as the Company invests in research and development, pre-clinical studies, clinical trials,
manufacturing and regulatory compliance. 

Since inception, the Company has been financed primarily from public and private sales of equity, the exercise of warrants
and stock options and interest earned on cash deposits and short-term investments.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and the Company’s working capital position were $17,641,155 and $17,818,393,
respectively, at June 30, 2004, up significantly from June 30, 2003 balances of $6,857,576 and $6,343,029, respectively. The
increase is the net result of the private placement and Novo Nordisk equity investment completed during fiscal 2004 and
expenditures incurred during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004.

After completion of a $6 million Novo Nordisk equity investment in August 2004, the Company believes that it has adequate
financial resources for anticipated expenditures until early fiscal 2008. 
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The success of the Company is dependent on its ability to bring its products to market, obtain the necessary regulatory
approvals and achieve future profitable operations. The continuation of the research and development activities and the
commercialization of its products are dependent on the Company’s ability to successfully complete these activities and to
obtain adequate financing through a combination of financing activities and operations. It is not possible to predict either the
outcome of future research and development programs or the Company’s ability to fund these programs going forward.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

During the year ended June 30, 2004, the Company sold a total of 24,188,034 common shares, through one private placement
and one Novo Nordisk equity investment, to raise gross proceeds of $15.5 million and issued 2,034,365 common shares for
total cash proceeds of $1,214,667 through the exercise of share purchase warrants and stock options. In connection with the
fiscal 2004 private placements, the Company also issued 1,384,615 share purchase warrants as additional compensation to
the agents. Subsequent to June 30, 2004, the Company sold 5,000,000 common shares, through a private placement to Novo
Nordisk, to raise gross proceeds of $6 million and issued 643,300 common shares for total cash proceeds of $429,843
through the exercise of 500,000 share purchase warrants and 143,300 stock options.

During the year ended June 30, 2003, the Company sold a total of 23,651,657 common shares and 7,159,000 share purchase
warrants, to raise gross proceeds of $8,599,073. In connection with the fiscal 2003 private placements, the Company also
issued 86,098 share purchase warrants and 1,431,800 Agents’ Warrants.

The details of the private placements completed during fiscal 2004 are as follows:

On February 24, 2004, the Company sold 23,076,923 common shares at a purchase price of $0.65 per common share,
through a private placement, for total gross proceeds of $15 million. As consideration in connection with the financing, 
the Company paid the underwriters a cash fee of $1.05 million and granted the underwriters 1,384,615 non-transferable
warrants. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a purchase price of $1.00.
These warrants expire on February 24, 2006 and the fair value of these warrants has been recorded as an additional expense
for the private placement.

On July 24, 2003, the Company sold 1,111,111 common shares to Novo Nordisk at a purchase price of $0.45 per common
share, through a private placement, for gross proceeds of $500,000. The cash proceeds from the private placement, net of
expenses, were $474,325. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

Minimum payments under our contractual obligations as of June 30, 2004 are as follows:

Total 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Operating

leases $ 39,733 $ 39,733 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Capital leases $ 104,008 $ 25,776 $ 23,509 $ 21,889 $ 21,889 $ 10,945
Collaboration 

agreements $ 173,252 $ 173,252 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Clinical and 

toxicity study 
agreements $ 151,763 $ 151,763 $ — $ — $ — $ —

Manufacturing 
agreements $ 78,215 $ 78,215 $ — $ — $ — $ —

TOTAL $ 546,971 $ 468,739 $ 23,509 $ 21,889 $ 21,889 $ 10,945

In addition, the Company has also licensed various technologies for its programs. Under these licensing agreements, which
are disclosed in detail in the Company’s financial statements, the Company is required to pay up to a total of $610,835,
depending on the outcome of certain developmental milestones, royalties on net sales of between 0.5% and 2%, royalties on
sublicense revenue of between 5% and 10% and has the ability to buy-back certain royalty streams for payments between
approximately U.S. $250,000 to U.S. $2 million.

R E L AT E D  PA R T Y  T R A N S ACT I O N S

During the year ended June 30, 2004, the Company had the following related party transactions which were measured at
exchange amounts as they were in the ordinary course of business:

The Company paid legal fees to a law firm where the Company's Secretary is a partner and to a corporation controlled by
the Company’s Secretary. Total fees and disbursements charged to the Company by these companies during the year ended
June 30, 2004 were $6,981.
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The Company paid legal fees to a law firm where a former Director of the Company is a partner. Total fees and
disbursements charged to the Company by the law firm during the year ended June 30, 2004 were $238,282, of which
$68,995 was charged to share capital as they related to financing transactions. The former Director ceased to be a Director
of the Company on December 16, 2003. 

O U T S TA N D I N G  S H A R E  DATA

AUTHORIZED

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number
of Class B shares.

The common shares are voting and are entitled to dividends if, as and when declared by the Board of Directors. The Class B
shares are non-voting, and are convertible on a one for one basis into common shares without additional consideration.
Holders of the Class B shares do not have the right to receive dividends and have equal priority with the holders of the
common shares with respect to return of capital on liquidation, dissolution or wind-up.

ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING

The following details the issued and outstanding equity securities of the Company:

Common Shares

As at October 18, 2004 the Company has 112,166,035 common shares outstanding.

Class B Shares

As at October 18, 2004 the Company has no Class B shares outstanding.

Share Purchase Warrants

The following is a summary of the share purchase warrants outstanding as at October 18, 2004:

Number Outstanding Exercise Price
Issue Date Expiry Date (#) ($)
May 23, 2003 May 23, 2005 25,000 0.32
June 4, 2003 June 4, 2005 35,098 0.32
June 24, 2003 December 24, 2004 4,837,289 0.58
February 24, 2004 February 24, 2006 1,384,615 1.00
TOTAL 6,282,002

Each share purchase warrant entitles the holder, upon exercise and full payment of the exercise price, to acquire one common
share of the Company until they expire at the dates indicated above. At October 18, 2004, on an if-converted basis, these share
purchase warrants would result in the issuance of 6,282,002 common shares for aggregate proceeds of $4,209,474.

Agents’ Warrants

The following is a summary of the Agents’ Warrants outstanding as at October 18, 2004:

Number Outstanding Exercise Price
Issue Date Expiry Date (#) ($)
June 24, 2003 June 24, 2005 1,431,800 0.38

Each Agents’ Warrant entitles the holder, upon exercise and the full payment of the exercise price, to acquire one common
share and one-half of one share purchase warrant of the Company until December 24, 2004. Each whole underlying share
purchase warrant, may then be exercised to acquire one common share of the Company for $0.58, until they expire on
December 24, 2004. After December 24, 2004, each Agents’ Warrant may only be exercised to acquire one common share of
the Company, until they expire on June 24, 2005. At October 18, 2004, on an if-converted basis, these Agents’ Warrants would
result in the issuance of 2,147,700 common shares for aggregate proceeds of $959,306, assuming the exercise of the
underlying share purchase warrants.

Stock Options

As at October 18, 2004, the Company has 3,570,662 stock options outstanding (on an after exchanged basis for Waratah
options) with exercise prices ranging from $0.28 to $3.30 and expiry dates ranging from September 19, 2005 to July 7, 2009.
At October 18, 2004, on an if-converted basis, these stock options would result in the issuance of 3,570,662 common shares
at an aggregate exercise price of $4,300,900.

R I S K S  A N D  U N C E R TA I N T I E S  

Prospects for companies in the biopharmaceutical industry generally may be regarded as uncertain given the nature of 
the industry and, accordingly, investments in such companies should be regarded as highly speculative. The Company’s
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technologies are currently in either the research and development stage or early in the clinical development stage, which
are both risky stages for a company in the biopharmaceutical industry. It is not possible to predict, based upon studies in
animals and early clinical data, whether a new therapeutic or device will prove to be safe and effective in humans. The
Company’s products will require additional development and testing, including extensive toxicity and other clinical testing,
before the Company will be able to apply to obtain regulatory approval to market the product commercially. To date, the
Company has not introduced a product into the market and there is no assurance that research and development programs
conducted by the Company will result in any commercially viable products. If a product is approved for sale, there is no
assurance that the Company will generate adequate funds to continue development or will ever achieve profitable
operations. There are many factors such as financial and human resources, competition, patent protection, and the
regulatory environment that can influence the Company’s ability to be profitable. 

FINANCIAL AND HUMAN RESOURCES

As of June 30, 2004, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $17,641,155 and working capital of $17,818,393. The
Company anticipates that it may need additional financing in the future to fund its ongoing research and development programs
and general corporate requirements. We may choose to seek additional funding through public or private offerings, corporate
collaborations or partnership arrangements.The amount of financing required will depend on many factors including the
financial requirements for the Company to fund its research and the ability of the Company to secure partnerships and achieve
partnership milestones as well as to fund other working capital requirements. The Company’s ability to access the capital
markets or to enlist partners is mainly dependent on the progress of its research and development and regulatory approval of
its products. There is no assurance that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

To continue the Company’s research and development programs and to conduct future clinical trials, the Company will rely
upon employees, collaborators and other third party relationships. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to
maintain or establish these relationships as required. 

COMPETITION

The pharmaceutical industry is very competitive and there is frequent introduction of new products and technologies. Even
if the Company develops a product, there is no assurance that it will be accepted in the marketplace which may result in
insufficient product revenue to become profitable. The Company’s success will depend, in part, on its ability to continue to
enhance its existing technologies as well as develop new technologies that address the changing needs of the market.

PATENT PROTECTION

The success of the Company will be, in part, dependent on obtaining and maintaining patent protection for our products. Our
ability to compete effectively and to achieve partnerships will depend on our ability to develop and maintain proprietary
aspects of our technology and to operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of others. There is no assurance that
our patent applications will be approved on the basis submitted, if at all. In addition, any patents issued to the Company may
be challenged, invalidated or circumvented.

REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

Although we are in the process of developing several products, these products are subject to regulation in Canada, the US and other
countries. There is no assurance that regulatory approval will be granted for any of the Company’s products. The regulatory process
could cause several problems for the Company including, but not limited to, delays in receipt of approvals which could result in time
delays in the Company’s programs, limitations on intended use which could result in smaller markets for the Company’s products
and failure to obtain necessary approvals, which could force the Company to cease development of the product.  

OTHER RISKS

The Company is exposed to market risks related to volatility in interest rates for the Company’s investment portfolio and 
foreign currency exchange rates related to purchases of supplies and services made in U.S. dollars. In addition, the
Company’s share price is subject to equity market risk, which may result in significant speculation and volatility of trading
due to the uncertainty inherent in the Company’s business and in the biotechnology industry in general. The expectations of
the Company made by securities analysts could also have a significant impact on the trading price of the Company’s shares.

OT H E R

Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s most recently filed Annual Information Form, can
be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Transition Therapeutics Inc. have been prepared by
management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. Management is responsible for the information and
representation contained in these consolidated financial statements and in other sections of this Annual Report.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles and include some amounts that are based on best estimates and judgments. Financial information
presented elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent with that contained in the consolidated financial statements.

Management, to meet its responsibility for integrity and objectivity of the data in the consolidated financial
statements, has developed and maintains a system of internal accounting controls. Management believes that this
system of internal accounting controls provides reasonable assurance that the financial records are reliable and form
a proper basis for preparation of the consolidated financial statements, and that the assets are properly accounted
for and safeguarded.

The Audit Committee reviews the consolidated financial statements, adequacy of internal controls, audit process and
financial reporting with management and with the shareholders’ auditors. The Audit Committee, which consists of
three directors not involved in the daily operations of the Company, reports to the Board of Directors prior to their
approval of the audited consolidated financial statements for publication.

The shareholders’ auditors have full access to the Audit Committee, with and without management being present.
The consolidated financial statements have been examined by the shareholders’ independent auditors, Ernst & Young
LLP Chartered Accountants, and their report is shown as part of the consolidated financial statements.

Tony Cruz Catherine Auld
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

October 4, 2004

To the Shareholders of 
Transition Therapeutics Inc.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Transition Therapeutics Inc. as at June 30, 2004 and 2003 and the
consolidated statements of loss and deficit and cash flows for the years then ended.  These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as at June 30, 2004 and 2003 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Toronto, Canada,
September 1, 2004
[except as to note 19 which is as of October 4, 2004] Chartered Accountants

AUDITORS’  REPORT
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As at June 30

2004 2003
$ $

ASSETS

Current
Cash and cash equivalents [notes 3 and 4] 17,641,155 6,857,576
Receivables 270,126 93,208
Investment tax credits receivable [note 12[a]] 511,821 458,400
Research inventory 559,378 379,956
Prepaid expenses and other assets 119,325 84,089
Future tax asset [note 12[b]] 106,277 66,250
Total current assets 19,208,082 7,939,479
Long-term deposits [note 5] 143,850 148,202
Long-term research inventory — 303,239
Capital assets, net [note 7] 440,783 469,110
Technology [notes 6 and 8] 22,436,674 31,020,940

42,229,389 39,880,970

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  S H A R E H O L D E R S '  E Q U I T Y

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities [note 6[b]] 1,366,983 1,576,741
Current portion of leasehold inducement [note 16[h]] 3,698 3,698
Current portion of obligation under capital leases [note 16[g]] 19,008 16,011
Total current liabilities 1,389,689 1,596,450
Leasehold inducement [note 16[h]] 17,880 21,578
Obligation under capital leases [note 16[g]] 67,356 36,261
Provision for facility closure [note 6[b]] 225,982 470,769
Deferred revenue [note 9] 920,580 —
Future tax liability [note 12[b]] 1,154,601 4,257,090
Total liabilities 3,776,088 6,382,148
Commitments [note 16]

Guarantees [note 18]

Subsequent events [note 19]

Shareholders' equity
Share capital

Common shares [notes 6[a] and 10] 66,001,437 48,415,433
Class B shares [notes 6[a] and 10] — 2,276,120
Contributed surplus [notes 10[c] and [d]] 2,646,643 2,461,769
Stock options [note 10[d]] 566,997 814,871
Warrants [note 10[c]] 1,456,026 1,188,930

Deficit (32,217,802) (21,658,301)
Total shareholders' equity 38,453,301 33,498,822

42,229,389 39,880,970

See accompanying notes

On behalf of the Board:

Tony Cruz Christopher Henley
Director Director



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND DEFICIT
Years ended June 30

2004 2003
$ $

EXPENSES

Research and development, net of investment tax credits [note 12[a]] 3,247,026 3,861,319
General and administrative 2,063,198 1,614,461
Facility closure [note 6[b]] 61,588 913,772
Amortization 8,638,195 8,353,399
Foreign exchange gain (7,818) (91,662)

14,002,189 14,651,289
Loss before the following (14,002,189) (14,651,289)
Interest income, net 261,821 39,066
Equity loss in affiliate — (154,746)
Loss before income taxes (13,740,368) (14,766,969)
Recovery of (provision for) income taxes [note 12[c]]

Current 38,351 (116,500)
Future 3,142,516 3,300,123

3,180,867 3,183,623
Net loss for the year (10,559,501) (11,583,346)
Deficit, beginning of year (21,658,301) (10,074,955)
Deficit, end of year (32,217,802) (21,658,301)

Basic and fully diluted net loss per common and Class B share [note 2] $ (0.12) $ (0.21)

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended June 30

2004 2003
$ $

OPERATIN G ACTIVITIE S

Net loss for the year (10,559,501) (11,583,346)
Add (deduct) items not involving cash

Amortization 8,695,939 8,369,791
Amortization of leasehold inducement (3,698) (3,696)
Write-off of capital assets, net [note 6[b]] — 27,000
Write-off of research inventory 24,588 73,764
Recovery of income taxes - future (3,142,516) (3,300,123)
Equity loss in affiliate — 154,746

(4,985,188) (6,261,864)
Net change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations [note 14] 304,041 515,883
Cash used in operating activities (4,681,147) (5,745,981)

I N V E S T I N G  ACT I V I T I E S

Maturity of short-term investments — 1,516,725
Purchase of capital assets (24,541) (1,242)
Cash acquired on SCT purchase, net of acquisition costs [note 6[a]] — 226,063
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities (24,541) 1,741,546

F I N A N C I N G  ACT I V I T I E S

Repayment of obligation under capital leases (24,713) (23,895)
Proceeds from issuance of units, net [note 10[b][vi]] — 4,906,993
Proceeds from issuance of common shares, net [note 10[b]] 15,513,980 3,084,636
Cash provided by financing activities 15,489,267 7,967,734

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year [note 15] 10,783,579 3,963,299
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,857,576 2,894,277
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 17,641,155 6,857,576

See accompanying notes
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2004

1 .  N AT U R E  O F  O P E R AT I O N S  A N D  B A S I S  O F  P R E S E N TAT I O N

Transition Therapeutics Inc. [the "Company"] is a biopharmaceutical company, incorporated on July 6, 1998 under 
the Business Corporations Act (Ontario). The Company is a product-focused biopharmaceutical company developing
therapeutics for disease indications with large markets. The Company’s lead technologies are focused on the treatment 
of diabetes, multiple sclerosis and hepatitis C.

The success of the Company is dependent on bringing its products to market, obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals
and achieving future profitable operations. The continuation of the research and development activities and the
commercialization of its products are dependent on the Company’s ability to successfully complete these activities and to
obtain adequate financing through a combination of financing activities and operations. It is not possible to predict either the
outcome of future research and development programs or the Company’s ability to fund these programs going forward.

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, Stem Cell
Therapeutics Inc. [“SCT”], a company incorporated on December 22, 1999 under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) and
continued under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario), Transition Therapeutics Leaseholds Inc., a company incorporated
on March 10, 2000 under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) and Waratah Pharmaceuticals Inc. [“Waratah”], a company
incorporated on January 15, 2002 under the Canada Business Corporations Act, and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Waratah
Pharmaceuticals Corporation, a company incorporated on February 12, 2001 under the laws of the State of Delaware. All
material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation. 

2 .  S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I CA N T  AC C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

Revenue recognition
Upfront payments received in accordance with licensing agreements are deferred and amortized into income on a systematic
basis over the term of the agreement.

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash equivalents are comprised of only highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than ninety days at the time
of purchase and are valued at cost, which approximates fair value.

Research inventory
Research inventory, which is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value, represents material that will be used in
future studies and clinical trials and will be recorded as research and development expense in the period it is used.

Capital assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost and amortized on a declining balance basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment 30%
Office equipment and furniture 20%
Laboratory equipment 20%

Leasehold improvements are recorded at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Leases
Leases are classified as either capital or operating. Those leases which transfer substantially all the benefits and risks of
ownership of property to the Company are accounted for as capital leases. The capitalized lease obligation reflects the
present value of future lease payments, discounted at the appropriate interest rate, and is reduced by rental payments net
of imputed interest. Assets under capital leases are amortized based on the useful life of the asset. All other leases are
accounted for as operating with rental payments being expensed as incurred.

Technology
The cost of intangibles with finite lives that are purchased from others for a particular research and development project are
deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life, which is five years. The Company does not
have indefinite lived intangible assets.
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Effective July 1, 2003, the Company adopted the recommendations in Handbook Section 3063, “Impairment of Long-lived
Assets,” issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. In accordance with the recommendations, the Company
assesses its technology for recoverability whenever indicators of impairment exist. When the carrying value of an asset is
greater than its net recoverable value as determined on an undiscounted basis, an impairment loss is recognized to the
extent that its fair value is below the asset’s carrying value.

Research and development
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs that meet specific criteria related to technical, market and
financial feasibility are capitalized. To date, all of the development costs have been expensed.

Loss per common and Class B share
Basic net loss per common and Class B share is determined by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of
common and Class B shares outstanding during the year. Contingently returnable common shares are excluded when
determining the weighted average number of common and Class B shares outstanding. Fully diluted net loss per common
and Class B share is in accordance with the treasury stock method and is based on the weighted average number of common
and Class B shares and dilutive common and Class B share equivalents outstanding during the year. 

The weighted average number of common and Class B shares used in the computation of basic and fully diluted net loss per
common and Class B share for the year ended June 30, 2004 is 89,071,698 [2003 – 54,974,533].

For the year ended June 30, 2004, 1,040,811 [2003 – 1,009,511] contingently returnable common shares were excluded from the
basic and fully diluted net loss per common and Class B share calculation. The contingently returnable common shares relate
to employment contracts and will be released from escrow based on the achievement of certain corporate milestones.

Stock-based compensation plans
The Company has stock-based compensation plans which are described in note 11. Effective July 1, 2002, the Company
adopted the recommendations in Handbook Section 3870, “Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments”,
issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. As permitted, the Company has applied this change prospectively
to new awards granted on or after July 1, 2002. Direct awards of stock to employees and stock and stock options granted to
non-employees are recognized in accordance with the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation. Stock
options granted to employees, officers and directors are accounted for using the intrinsic value method of accounting.
Accordingly, no compensation cost is recognized when stock options are granted to employees, officers and directors under
the Company’s Stock Option Plan.  The pro forma information below, regarding net loss and net loss per common and Class
B share, has been determined as if the Company had accounted for stock options granted to employees, officers and directors
on or after July 1, 2002 under the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation. 

Year ended Year ended
June 30, June 30,

2004 2003
$ $

Net loss As reported 10,559,501 11,583,346
Pro-forma 10,596,431 11,591,596

Basic and fully diluted net loss per common 
and Class B share As reported $ 0.12 $ 0.21

Pro-forma $ 0.12 $ 0.21

The fair value of the options at the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the
following assumptions: expected option life between 2 to 4 years [2003 - 2 to 4 years], volatility of between 1.152 and 1.247
[2003 – 1.189], a risk free interest rate of between 1.75% and 2.80% [2003 - 2.55% and 3.20%] and a dividend yield of 0%
[2003 – 0%].

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the year ended June 30, 2004 was $0.49 [2003 - $0.22].
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Investments
Investments are accounted for at cost when the conditions for equity accounting are not present and on the equity basis
when significant influence exists. Declines in market values of investments are expensed when such declines are considered
to be other than temporary. The Company acquired equity securities of SCT on November 27, 2002 and then acquired the
remaining equity securities of SCT on January 31, 2003, as described in note 6[a]. For the period from November 27, 2002 to
January 30, 2003, the Company accounted for its investment in SCT on an equity basis. On January 31, 2003, SCT became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and, as such, its results have been consolidated from January 31, 2003.

Income taxes
The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, future income tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial statement carrying values and the respective tax bases
of assets and liabilities, measured using substantively enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse. The Company establishes a valuation allowance against future income tax assets if, based
on available information, it is more likely than not that some or all of the future income tax asset will be realized.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments of the Company consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, investment tax credits
receivable, long-term deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and obligation under capital leases. Substantially
all of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are invested in a short-term investment fund that invests in commercial
paper and short-term debt with a rating of R-1 or higher. The annualized rate of return of this fund at June 30, 2004 was
2.2% [2003 – 3.4%]. As at June 30, 2004 and 2003, there were no significant differences between the carrying values of these
amounts and their estimated market values. 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk from fluctuations in foreign currency rates. Increases or decreases in
foreign currency rates could impact the Company's net income (loss).

Use of estimates
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Investment tax credits
Investment tax credits ["ITCs"] are accrued when qualifying expenditures are made and there is reasonable assurance that
the credits will be realized. For income statement purposes, the ITCs are recorded as a reduction of the related expenses or
capital expenditures. 

Foreign exchange translation
Foreign subsidiary
The Company's foreign indirect subsidiary is considered to be an integrated foreign operation and its accounts have been
translated into Canadian dollars using the temporal method. Under this method, monetary assets and liabilities are re-
measured at the exchange rates in effect at the consolidated balance sheet dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are
measured at historical rates. Revenue and expenses are measured at the average rate for the year. Gains and losses
resulting are included in the consolidated statements of loss and deficit.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions undertaken in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at approximate exchange rates
prevailing at the time the transactions occurred. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at
exchange rates in effect at the consolidated balance sheet dates. Non-monetary assets are translated at historical exchange
rates. Exchange gains and losses are included in the consolidated statements of loss and deficit.
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3 .  L I N E  O F  C R E D I T

As at June 30, 2003, the Company had a line of credit with a major Canadian chartered bank for a maximum amount of
$500,000 against which a term deposit was pledged as collateral. The interest rate was based upon the financial institution's
prime rate. During the year ended June 30, 2004, the Company cancelled the line of credit as the credit facility was never
utilized.

4 .  CA S H  A N D  CA S H  E Q U I VA L E N T S  

Included in cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2004 is cash denominated in U.S. dollars of U.S. $26,078 [2003 – U.S.
$22,264]. 

5 .  LO N G - T E R M  D E P O S I T S

Long-term deposits consist of deposits on the Waratah facility in Woburn, Massachusetts [the “Woburn Facility”] totaling
$143,850 (U.S. $107,850) [2003 – $148,202 (U.S. $109,350)].

6.  ACQUIS ITIO N S

[a] Stem Cell Therapeutics Inc.
On November 27, 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of 17,600,000 series A special warrants [“A Warrants”]
and 4,400,000 series B special warrants [“B Warrants”] of SCT in exchange for 8,129,000 Class B non-voting shares in
the Company. 

On January 31, 2003, the Company acquired the remaining outstanding equity securities of SCT in consideration for
2,776,191 common shares of the Company.  Of the common shares issued, 33,334 common shares were issued to the
Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer [“CEO”]. As at June 30, 2004, the Company owns 100% of SCT and
commencing January 31, 2003, the financial results of SCT have been consolidated with the financial results of the
Company. This transaction was accounted for as a step purchase, with the Company identified as the acquirer. SCT was
a privately held company investigating regenerative therapies for stroke and Parkinson’s disease. Total consideration,
including acquisition costs, was allocated to the estimated fair values on the date of acquisition as follows:

$
Assets acquired
Current assets [including cash and cash equivalents of $266,614] 405,454
Capital assets 8,987
Technology 3,055,560

3,470,001
Less liabilities assumed
Current liabilities 153,901
Net assets acquired 3,316,100

Consideration given
Common shares 999,429
Class B shares 2,276,120
Acquisition costs 40,551

3,316,100
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[b] Waratah Pharmaceuticals Inc.
In connection with the acquisition of Waratah on January 15, 2002, the Company consolidated the management team and
commenced a review of the research and development facility and operational needs. By June 30, 2002, the Company had
completed this review and determined that it would close the Woburn Facility. In connection with this closure and the
consolidation of management, the Company included in the purchase equation a severance accrual of $548,277,
estimated lease exit costs of $186,600 and adjusted the preliminary fair value of the capital assets acquired from
$693,281 to $363,281. The following table shows the changes in these provisions during the years ended June 30, 2004
and 2003:

Severance Lease exit
costs costs Total

$ $ $
Provision at June 30, 2002 548,277 186,600 734,877
Additional provision recorded in 2003 — 886,772 886,772
Payments during 2003 (544,771) (308,447) (853,218)
Provision at June 30, 2003 3,506 764,925 768,431
Additional provision recorded in 2004 — 61,588 61,588
Payments during 2004 (3,506) (310,328) (313,834)
Provision at June 30, 2004 — 516,185 516,185

In addition, the Company recorded a write-off of capital assets of nil [2003 - $27,000], which has been expensed as facility
closure on the consolidated statements of loss and deficit.  As at June 30, 2004, $290,203 [2003 - $294,156] of the provision
for lease exit costs is current and is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and $225,982 [2003 – $470,769]
is non-current and is shown as provision for facility closure. The lease on this facility expires in April 2006. 

7.  CAPITAL ASS E TS

Capital assets consist of the following:
2004

Net
Accumulated book

Cost amortization value
$ $ $

Computer equipment 127,755 84,558 43,197
Office equipment and furniture 207,264 70,861 136,403
Laboratory equipment 438,526 206,199 232,327
Leasehold improvements 58,139 29,283 28,856

831,684 390,901 440,783

2003
Net

Accumulated book
Cost amortization value

$ $ $
Computer equipment 114,726 71,666 43,060
Office equipment and furniture 180,395 75,441 104,954
Laboratory equipment 435,833 148,454 287,379
Leasehold improvements 58,139 24,422 33,717

789,093 319,983 469,110

Included in the value of computer equipment and office equipment and furniture at June 30, 2004 is equipment under capital
lease with a cost of $141,790 [2003 - $113,024] and accumulated amortization of $40,807 [2003 - $51,794].

Amortization relating to laboratory equipment of $57,744 [2003 - $16,392] is included in research and development expenses.
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8 .  T E C H N O LO GY

Technology consists of the following:
2004

Net
Accumulated book

Cost amortization value
$ $ $

Acquired on acquisition of Waratah 39,799,917 19,568,292 20,231,625
Acquired from Biogenesys, Inc. [note 16[f ]] 137,000 70,779 66,221
Acquired on acquisition of SCT [note 6[a]] 3,055,560 916,732 2,138,828

42,992,477 20,555,803 22,436,674

2003
Net

Accumulated book
Cost amortization value

$ $ $
Acquired on acquisition of Waratah 39,799,917 11,608,309 28,191,608
Acquired from Biogenesys, Inc. [note 16[f ]] 137,000 43,378 93,622
Acquired on acquisition of SCT [note 6[a]] 3,055,560 319,850 2,735,710

42,992,477 11,971,537 31,020,940

The amortization to be taken on the technology by fiscal year is as follows:
$

2005 8,584,266
2006 8,584,266
2007 4,919,962
2008 348,180

22,436,674

9 .  D E F E R R E D  R E V E N U E

In November 2003, the Company signed an agreement granting Novo Nordisk A/S [“Novo Nordisk”] an exclusive option to
license the Company’s Islet Neogenesis Therapy [“I.N.T.™”] technology. Under the agreement, Novo Nordisk provided the
Company with $652,400 [U.S. $500,000] in cash for the further development of the I.N.T.™ technology. In June 2004, Novo
Nordisk exercised its option and paid to the Company an option fee of $268,180 [U.S. $200,000] in cash. In August 2004, the
Company signed the definitive licensing agreement [the “Licensing Agreement”] with Novo Nordisk.

The $920,580 received from Novo Nordisk has been recorded as deferred revenue and will be taken into revenue over the
term of the Licensing Agreement. See note 19[a] for further details on the Licensing Agreement. 

1 0 .  S H A R E  CA P I TA L

[a] Authorized
The authorized share capital of the Company consists of unlimited common shares and unlimited Class B shares.

The common shares are voting and are entitled to dividends if, as and when declared by the Board of Directors. The Class
B shares are non-voting, and are convertible by the holder on a one for one basis into common shares without additional
consideration. Holders of the Class B shares do not have any right to receive dividends, but have equal priority with the
holders of the common shares with respect to return of capital on liquidation, dissolution or wind-up.
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36 [b] Issued and outstanding and changes during the period

Common shares # $
Balance, June 30, 2002 43,607,208 38,779,654
Issued pursuant to private placement, net [iv] 5,715,432 1,956,007 
Conversion of Class B shares 2,425,000 1,833,651
Issued on acquisition of SCT, net [note 6[a]] 2,776,191 999,429
Issued pursuant to private placement, net [v] 3,618,225 1,112,270
Issued pursuant to private placement, net [vi] 14,318,000 3,734,422
Balance, June 30, 2003 72,460,056 48,415,433
Issued pursuant to private placement, net [i] 1,111,111 474,325
Conversion of Class B shares 8,129,000 2,276,120
Exercise of share purchase warrants [note 10[c][i]] 1,847,711 1,285,211
Exercise of stock options [note 10[d][i]] 186,654 211,975
Issued pursuant to private placement, net [ii] 23,076,923 13,338,373
Cancellation of common shares [iii] (288,720) —
Balance, June 30, 2004 106,522,735 66,001,437

Class B shares # $
Balance, June 30, 2002 2,425,000 1,833,651
Issued on acquisition of SCT, net [note 6[a]] 8,129,000 2,276,120
Conversion to common shares (2,425,000) (1,833,651)
Balance, June 30, 2003 8,129,000 2,276,120
Conversion to common shares (8,129,000) (2,276,120)
Balance, June 30, 2004 — —

Total common and Class B shares 106,522,735 66,001,437

[i] On July 24, 2003, the Company sold 1,111,111 common shares to Novo Nordisk at a purchase price of $0.45 per
common share through a private placement for a total amount of $500,000. The cash proceeds from the private
placement, net of expenses, were $474,325. In addition, the Company also granted Novo Nordisk a non-transferable
right to acquire up to an additional 10,101,010 common shares of the Company at $0.495 per common share which
right expired on October 1, 2003. 

[ii] On February 24, 2004, under the terms of an underwriters agreement, the Company sold 23,076,923 common shares
at a purchase price of $0.65 per common share, through a private placement, for total gross proceeds of $15 million.
The net cash proceeds of the private placement were $13,824,988. As consideration in connection with the financing,
the Company paid the underwriters a cash fee of $1.05 million and granted the underwriters 1,384,615 non-
transferable warrants. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a purchase
price of $1.00. The fair value of the warrants at the date of grant was estimated at $486,615 using the Black-Scholes
pricing model based on the following assumptions: expected warrant life of 2 years, volatility of 1.219, a risk-free
interest rate of 1.75% and a dividend yield of 0%. These warrants expire on February 24, 2006 and the fair value of
these warrants has been recorded as an additional expense for the private placement.

[iii]During fiscal 2004, the Company cancelled 288,720 common shares. These shares were issued to employees of the
Company under the terms of their employment agreements and were being held in escrow pending the achievement
of certain events, as detailed in the respective employment agreements. The cancelled shares represent common
shares where the achievement of the certain events is no longer attainable. 

[iv] On November 27, 2002, the Company sold 5,715,432 common shares at a purchase price of $0.35 per common share
through a private placement for a total amount of $2,000,401. The net cash proceeds of the private placement were
$1,960,947. The Company received $517,000 from Dr. Tony Cruz, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, approximately
$1 million from the vendors of the SCT A Warrants and B Warrants and the remaining financing from other investors.
In addition, as additional consideration in connection with the private placement, the Company paid a dealer, a
company owned by a director of the Company, cash consideration of $4,550 and also granted the same dealer share
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purchase warrants entitling the dealer to acquire 26,000 common shares at a purchase price of $0.35 per share. The
fair value of the warrants at the date of grant was estimated as $4,940 using the Black-Scholes pricing model based
on the following assumptions: expected warrant life of 1.5 years, volatility of 1.189, a risk-free interest rate of 2.55%
and a dividend yield of 0%. The fair value of these warrants has been recorded as an additional expense for the private
placement. These warrants were exercised during fiscal 2004.

[v] On May 23, 2003 and June 4, 2003, the Company sold a total of 3,618,225 common shares at a purchase price of $0.32
per common share through a private placement for a total amount of $1,157,832. The net cash proceeds of the private
placement were $1,123,689. The Company received $128,000 from Dr. Tony Cruz, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, and the remaining financing from other investors. In addition, as additional consideration in connection with
the private placement, the Company paid a dealer, a company owned by a director of the Company, cash consideration
of $13,462 and also granted the same dealer share purchase warrants entitling the dealer to acquire 60,098 common
shares at a purchase price of $0.32 per share. The total fair value of the warrants at their grant dates was estimated
as $11,419 using the Black-Scholes pricing model based on the following assumptions: expected warrant life of 2
years, volatility of 1.157 and 1.181, respectively, a risk-free interest rate of 2% and a dividend yield of 0%. 25,000 of
these warrants expire on May 23, 2005 and the remaining warrants expire on June 4, 2005. The fair value of these
warrants has been recorded as an additional expense for the private placement.

[vi] On June 24, 2003, under the terms of an agency agreement, the Company issued 14,318,000 units at a purchase price
of $0.38 per unit, through a private placement, for a total amount of $5,440,840. The net cash proceeds of the private
placement were $4,906,993. Each unit consists of one common share and one-half of a share purchase warrant. Each
whole share purchase warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a purchase price
of $0.58 per share. During fiscal 2004, 1,821,711 of these share purchase warrants were exercised. The remaining
share purchase warrants expire on December 24, 2004. The purchase price of $0.38 was split between the common
share and the share purchase warrants using factors such as trading prices of the Company's shares for a reasonable
period prior to the announcement of the offering, the recent financing completed by the Company and the Black-
Scholes pricing model. Management has determined that a reasonable allocation is $0.31 for each common share
issued and $0.07 for each half share purchase warrant issued. 

In addition, as additional consideration in connection with the offering, the Company granted the agents 1,431,800
non-transferable warrants with an exercise price of $0.38 per warrant [the “Agents’ Warrants”]. Until the end of
business on December 24, 2004, each Agents’ Warrant will entitle the holder to acquire one common share and one-
half of one share purchase warrant. Following December 24, 2004, each Agents’ Warrant will only entitle the holder
to acquire one common share until they expire on June 24, 2005. The fair value of the Agents’ Warrants at the date of
grant was estimated as $329,314 using the Black-Scholes pricing model based on the following assumptions:
expected warrant life of 2 years, volatility of 1.176, a risk-free interest rate of 2% and a dividend yield of 0%. The fair
value of the Agents’ Warrants has been recorded as an additional expense for the private placement. 
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[c] Share purchase warrants and Agents’ Warrants

Share purchase warrants # $

Share purchase warrants outstanding, June 30, 2002 4,467,164 2,386,352
Share purchase warrants expired [[iii] and [iv]] (4,467,164) (2,386,352)
Share purchase warrants issued pursuant to private placement [note 10[b][iv]] 26,000 4,940
Share purchase warrants issued pursuant to private placement [note 10[b][v]] 60,098 11,419
Share purchase warrants issued pursuant to private placement [note 10[b][vi]] 7,159,000 843,257
Share purchase warrants outstanding, June 30, 2003 7,245,098 859,616
Exercise of share purchase warrants [i] (1,847,711) (219,519)
Share purchase warrants issued pursuant to private placement [note 10[b][ii]] 1,384,615 486,615
Share purchase warrants outstanding, June 30, 2004 6,782,002 1,126,712

Agents’ Warrants # $

Agents’ Warrants outstanding, June 30, 2002 — —
Agents’ Warrants issued pursuant to private placement [note 10[b][vi]] 1,431,800 329,314
Agents’ Warrants outstanding, June 30, 2003 and June 30, 2004 1,431,800 329,314

Total warrants 8,213,802 1,456,026

[i] Share purchase warrants totaling 1,847,711 were exercised during fiscal 2004. These warrants had a recorded value
of $219,519 and resulted in cash proceeds to the Company of $1,065,692.

[ii] The maximum possible cash proceeds to the Company from the exercise of the share purchase warrants and the
Agents’ Warrants presently outstanding is $5,458,780 [2003 - $5,139,857].

[iii]On January 15, 2002, as part of the acquisition of Waratah, the Company issued 4,853,616 share purchase warrants.
Each share purchase warrant entitles the holder to acquire 0.83333 common shares of the Company for $0.85.
Therefore, the total common shares that could be acquired from these share purchase warrants is 4,044,664. These
share purchase warrants were included as part of the consideration for the acquisition of Waratah and therefore,
when the warrants expired on September 19, 2002, the consideration associated with these warrants was reclassified
to contributed surplus.

[iv] As part of the Company’s initial public offering, the Company granted the agents share purchase warrants entitling 
the agents to acquire 422,500 common shares at a purchase price of $1.25 per share. These warrants expired on
August 28, 2002.

[d] Stock options

Stock options # $
Stock options outstanding, June 30, 2002 4,020,121 890,288
Stock options issued 80,000 —
Stock options expired (269,924) (75,417)
Stock options outstanding, June 30, 2003 3,830,197 814,871
Stock options issued 679,000 —
Exercise of stock options [i] (186,654) (63,000)
Stock options expired [iii] (737,512) (184,874)
Stock options outstanding, June 30, 2004 3,585,031 566,997
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[i] Stock options totaling 186,654 were exercised in fiscal 2004. These stock options had a recorded value of $63,000 and
resulted in cash proceeds to the Company of $148,975.

[ii] The maximum possible cash proceeds to the Company from the exercise of the stock options presently outstanding is
$4,147,063 [2003 - $4,603,113].

[iii]Of the stock options that expired during fiscal 2004, 295,832 [2003 - 125,000] were included as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Waratah. Therefore, the consideration associated with these options was
reclassified to contributed surplus when they expired.

11.  STOCK- B A SE D CO MPE N SATIO N  P L A N S

In November 1999, the Company established a Stock Option Plan [the "Plan"] for the directors, officers, employees,
members of the Scientific Advisory Board and consultants of the Company or of subsidiaries of the Company in order to
secure for the Company and its shareholders the benefit of an incentive interest in share ownership by participants under
the Plan. The Plan is administered by the Board of Directors of the Company.

All stock options granted under the Plan must be exercised within a maximum period of five years following the grant date
thereof. The maximum number of common shares that may be issued pursuant to stock options granted under the Plan shall
not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares, to a maximum of 7,357,116 common shares, of which 186,654
have been issued, resulting in a remaining maximum of 7,170,462 at June 30, 2004. The maximum number of common
shares that may be issued to any individual pursuant to stock options granted under the Plan will not exceed 5% of the
outstanding common shares and the total number of common shares that may be issued to consultants pursuant to stock
options granted under the Plan will not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding common shares in any twelve month period.
The vesting period is determined at the time of each option grant but must not exceed five years.

The options acquired through the acquisition of Waratah are governed by the terms of the Waratah option plan which has the
same terms and vesting as the Plan.

A summary of options outstanding as at June 30, 2004 under the Plans are presented below. 

Outstanding Exercisable
Range of Weighted average Weighted average
exercise Number of remaining Weighted average Number of remaining Weighted average
prices options contractual life exercise price options contractual life exercise price
$ # [years] $ # [years] $

0.28 – 0.35 399,000 4.1 0.35 159,092 4.1 0.34
0.63 – 0.80 672,704 1.6 0.77 594,064 1.6 0.77
1.02 – 1.30 1,804,996 1.8 1.13 1,506,360 1.3 1.10
1.55 – 2.30 674,997 1.9 2.01 610,316 1.9 2.05
2.40 – 3.30 33,334 1.4 3.08 33,334 1.4 3.08

3,585,031 2,903,166

A summary of options outstanding as at June 30, 2003 under the Plans are presented below. 

Outstanding Exercisable
Range of Weighted average Weighted average
exercise Number of remaining Weighted average Number of remaining Weighted average
prices options contractual life exercise price options contractual life exercise price
$ # [years] $ # [years] $

0.28 – 0.34 80,000 4.4 0.33 42,492 4.4 0.32
0.63 – 0.80 827,704 2.5 0.76 580,264 2.3 0.76
1.02 – 1.30 2,180,828 1.8 1.11 1,967,852 1.7 1.10
1.55 – 2.30 708,331 2.9 2.02 607,397 2.9 2.08
2.40 – 3.30 33,334 2.4 3.08 33,334 2.4 3.08

3,830,197 3,231,339
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1 2 .  I N C O M E  TA X E S  

[a] As at June 30, 2004, the Company has total Canadian non-capital losses of approximately $20,365,600 [2003 -
$17,370,000] available for carryforward, the benefit of which has not been recorded.  The non-capital losses will begin to
expire as follows: $893,000 in 2006, $5,989,000 in 2007, $1,715,000 in 2008, $5,467,000 in 2009 and the remainder
expiring thereafter.

As at June 30, 2004, the Company also has approximately $6,690,000 [2003 - $5,138,000] in Canadian scientific research
and experimental development expenditures which can be carried forward indefinitely to reduce future years' taxable
income. During fiscal 2004, the Company recorded $456,000 [2003 - $182,000] of refundable provincial ITCs which was
recorded as a reduction to research and development, net. The Company has approximately $1,320,000 [2003 - $985,000]
in federal ITCs that can be carried forward for up to ten years and used to reduce the Company's taxes payable.

[b] Significant components of the Company's future tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

2004 2003
$ $

Future tax assets
Capital assets 1,444,832 577,739
Reserves 205,000 310,000
Deferred revenue 234,864 —
Non-capital loss carryforwards 7,357,094 5,234,866
Canadian scientific research and experimental development expenditures 2,416,769 1,502,411
Investment tax credits 1,031,555 768,504
Financing costs 603,100 379,208
Total future tax assets 13,293,214 8,772,728

Future tax liabilities
Leasehold inducement (7,794) (7,613)
Technology (7,307,663) (9,315,302)
Total future tax liabilities (7,315,457) (9,322,915)

5,977,757 (550,187)
Less valuation allowance (7,026,081) (3,640,653)
Net future tax liability (1,048,324) (4,190,840)

[c] The reconciliation of income tax attributable to continuing operations computed at the statutory tax rates to income tax
expense is as follows:

2004 2003
$ $

Tax expense at combined federal and provincial rates (5,468,666) (5,933,760)
Adjustment for lower tax rate jurisdictions (2,614) 282,562
Non-deductible permanent differences 4,969 2,927
Impact of changes in tax rates 355,496 —
Future tax assets not recognized for accounting 1,929,948 2,464,648

(3,180,867) (3,183,623)
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1 3 .  R E L AT E D  PA R T Y  T R A N S ACT I O N S

During fiscal 2004 and 2003, the Company was involved in the following related party transactions, which have been
measured at the exchange amount:

[a] During fiscal 2004, the Company paid legal fees to a law firm where the Company's Secretary is a partner and to a
corporation controlled by the Company’s Secretary. Total fees and disbursements charged to the Company by these
companies during the year ended June 30, 2004 were $6,981 [2003 - $12,720], of which nil [2003 - $10,368] was charged
to share capital as they related to the SCT acquisition and the financing transactions.

[b] During fiscal 2004, the Company paid legal fees to a law firm where a former Director of the Company is a partner.
Total fees and disbursements charged to the Company by the law firm during the year ended June 30, 2004 were
$238,282 [2003 - $117,111], of which $68,995 [2003 – $109,386] was charged to share capital as they related to the
financing transactions and the acquisition of Waratah. The former Director ceased to be a Director of the Company on
December 16, 2003. 

[c] As additional consideration in connection with two of the private placements completed during fiscal 2003, the Company
paid a dealer, a company owned by a Director of the Company, cash commissions and granted the same dealer share
purchase warrants [notes 10[b][iv] and [v]]. During fiscal 2004, the Director exercised 26,000 of these warrants which
resulted in cash consideration to the Company of $9,100.

[d] Through two of the private placements completed during fiscal 2003, the Company’s Chairman and CEO acquired
common shares for total cash consideration of $645,000 [notes 10[b][iv] and [v]].

[e] Of the common shares issued on January 31, 2003 for the acquisition of the remaining outstanding equity securities of
SCT, 33,334 common shares were issued to the Company’s Chairman and CEO [note 6[a]].

1 4 .  C O N S O L I DAT E D  S TAT E M E N T S  O F  CA S H  F LOWS

The net change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations consists of the following:

2004 2003
$ $

Receivables (176,918) (25,837)
Investment tax credits receivable (53,421) (182,000)
Research inventory 99,229 122,273
Deposits on collaborations — 282,201
Prepaid expenses and other assets (35,236) 154,211
Long-term deposits 4,352 18,010
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (209,758) (323,744)
Deferred revenue 920,580 —
Provision for facility closure (244,787) 470,769

304,041 515,883

Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid 7,828 12,082
Taxes paid 142,799 23,881

In fiscal 2003, amortization on the technology of $71,149 is included in equity loss in affiliate on the consolidated statements
of loss and deficit and cash flows.
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15.  NON-CASH TR A N SACTIO N S

During fiscal 2004 and 2003, the Company entered into the following non-cash activities:
[a] The transaction cost for the issuance of the share purchase warrants of $486,615, as discussed in note 10[b][ii], is a non-

cash transaction and therefore does not reduce the net cash proceeds for the private placement.

[b] The transaction cost for the issuance of the share purchase warrants of $4,940 and $11,419, as discussed in notes
10[b][iv] and [v], respectively, are non-cash transactions and therefore do not reduce the net cash proceeds for the
respective private placements. 

[c] The transaction cost for the issuance of the Agents’ Warrants of $329,314, as discussed in note 10[b][vi], is a non-cash
transaction and therefore does not reduce the net cash proceeds for the private placement.

[d] On November 27, 2002, the Company issued 8,129,000 Class B non-voting shares to acquire A Warrants and B Warrants
of SCT and on January 31, 2003, the Company issued 2,776,191 common shares to acquire the remaining outstanding
securities of SCT [note 6[a]]. 

[e] During fiscal 2004, capital assets of $58,805 [2003 – nil] were acquired under capital leases. 

1 6 .  C O M M I T M E N T S

[a] As at June 30, 2004, the Company is committed to aggregate expenditures of $173,252 [2003 - $115,250] under its
collaboration agreements. In addition, at June 30, 2004, the Company is committed to aggregate expenditures of
approximately $151,763 [2003 – $41,773] for clinical and toxicity studies to be completed during fiscal 2005 and
approximately $78,215 [2003 - nil] for manufacturing agreements. 

[b] On November 9, 1999, the Company entered into a license agreement with HSC Research Limited Partnership ["HSC"] to
acquire Dr. Eva Turley's interests in the Company's patent application US 910130.401 that had been previously assigned
to HSC. Total financial consideration due to HSC from the Company will be up to $465,000, depending on the outcome of
certain clinical results, and consists of a combination of upfront payments, milestone payments and annual license fees.
The annual license fees can be decreased by any research sponsorship agreements with HSC. As at June 30, 2004,
$35,000 [2003 - $10,000] of the commitment has been paid or is accrued to be paid and an additional $180,000 [2003 -
$180,000] of the commitment has been satisfied by research sponsorship agreements with HSC.

[c] On December 20, 1999, the Company entered into a letter agreement with the Mount Sinai Hospital ["MSH"] to acquire
Dr. Tony Cruz's interests in the Company's patent application US 910130.401 that had been previously assigned to MSH.
Total financial consideration due to MSH from the Company will be up to $116,250, depending on the outcome of certain
clinical results, and consists of a combination of upfront payments, milestone payments and annual license fees with
payments to be no greater than 25% of the fees payable to HSC under the Company's license agreement [note 16[b]]. The
annual license fees can be decreased by any research sponsorship agreements with MSH. As at June 30, 2004, $23,750
[2003 - $17,500] of the commitment has been paid or is accrued to be paid and an additional $32,500 [2003 - $32,124] of
the commitment has been satisfied by research sponsorship agreements with MSH.

[d] The Company entered into a license agreement with the Cangene Corporation ["Cangene"] on January 20, 2000 to acquire
Receptor for Hyaluronan Mediated Motility [“RHAMM”] technology. This agreement was subsequently amended during
fiscal 2001 and then replaced by a new license agreement [the "Agreement"] signed in February 2004. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Cangene granted the Company an exclusive worldwide license to Cangene’s
patent rights for RHAMM and High Affinity Binding Peptide technologies for use in diabetes, multiple sclerosis and
restenosis. Total financial consideration due to Cangene under the agreement is $127,441, depending on the achievement
of certain developmental milestones; a 1.0% to 2.0% royalty on net sales; and 50% of patent costs incurred on the patents
for the RHAMM technology. In addition, under the agreement, the Company granted Cangene an exclusive worldwide
license to specific technology in the Company’s patent application PCT/CA02/01563 for use in the field of infectious
bacterial diseases. As consideration for this license, the Company will receive a 2% royalty on net sales of products
claimed in the licensed patents.

During the year ended June 30, 2004, the Company recorded patent expenses owing to Cangene of $11,000 [2003 - nil]. 

Under the Agreement, if the sum of royalties paid to Cangene resulting from the sale of a product derived from the patent
applications licensed to the Company does not meet certain minimum requirements [as specified in the Agreement] during
the first and subsequent years of the commercialization of any such product, Cangene may terminate the Agreement.

42



N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  ( C O N T I N U E D )

June 30, 2004

[e] On March 1, 2001, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with HSC for a transgenic mouse model
[the "Model"] for multiple sclerosis. The maximum financial consideration due to HSC from the Company is: 1) $100,000,
which has been extinguished through sponsorship agreements; and 2) 10% of the revenues from sub-licensing of the
Model. 

[f] During fiscal 2002, the Company purchased patents for a methyldonor technology from Biogenesys, Inc. ["Biogenesys"]
for $137,000 through the issuance of 195,715 common shares. As part of the agreement the Company will pay Biogenesys
an on-going royalty equal to 0.5% of net sales of any product or process claimed under the acquired patents. As a
condition of the purchase, the Company entered into a license agreement [the "Biogenesys License"] with Biogenesys
dated December 4, 2001. Under the Biogenesys License, the Company granted an exclusive worldwide license to
Biogenesys for the use of the acquired patents in the therapeutic areas of HIV, HIV encephalopathy, psychiatric disorders,
Alzheimer's disease and rheumatological disease for no additional consideration. The Biogenesys License expires when
the patents expire.

[g] The Company leases telephone and photocopier equipment under capital leases expiring at various dates to December
2008. Future minimum annual lease payments under these leases in aggregate and over the next five years and
thereafter are as follows: 

$
2005 25,776
2006 23,509
2007 21,889
2008 21,889
2009 10,945

104,008
Less imputed interest 17,644

86,364
Less current portion 19,008

67,356

[h] The Company leases various premises under operating leases expiring at various dates to April 30, 2006 with certain
options to renew. Future minimum annual lease payments under these operating leases, excluding the Woburn Facility
which is discussed in note 6[b], in aggregate and over the next five years are as follows: 

$
2005 39,733

39,733

During the year, the rental expense for the various premises under operating leases was $329,347 [2003 - $366,934] of
which $262,347 [2003 – $168,534] was charged against the accrual for facility closure [note 6[b]].

In connection with entering into one of the premises leases, the Company received a lease inducement of $36,980 which
was used to construct leasehold improvements and is being deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.

[i] Through the acquisition of Waratah, the Company acquired the commitments for the following license agreements:
[i] General Hospital Corporation:

The Company owns 50% of certain patent rights issued in connection with I.N.T.™ technology for the treatment of
juvenile diabetes and has a license agreement with General Hospital Corporation ["GHC"] whereby GHC assigned the
Company an exclusive worldwide license for the remaining 50% of the aforementioned patent rights. Under the
license agreement, the Company is committed to making royalty payments of 1.5% on the net sales. This royalty rate
can be reduced to 0.75% by the Company through the payment of a buy-back option ranging from U.S. $250,000 to
U.S. $1.25 million depending on the stage of the development of the I.N.T.™ product at the time of the buy-back. In
addition, the Company is committed to make payments ranging from 5%-10% of non-royalty sublicense fees and
milestone payments received by the Company, which will include certain payments received from Novo Nordisk as
described in note 19[a]. The agreement remains in force until the expiration of the last to expire patent. 
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[ii] Research Corporation Technologies:
The Company has a license agreement with Research Corporation Technologies ["RCT"], a company based in Arizona,
for the use of RCT's patented protein expression system for the production of the Company's therapeutics proteins.
Under the agreement, the Company will pay RCT royalties of 1.5% on net sales, including minimum annual royalties
of U.S. $30,000 in 2002 and thereafter for the term of the agreement. 

[iii]Viral Therapeutics, Inc.:
The Company has a development agreement with Viral Therapeutics, Inc. of Ithaca, NY ["Viral"] which specializes in
the strain development, process development, and scale up for recombinant human protein production. Pursuant to
the terms of the agreement, Viral also granted the Company an exclusive worldwide license to use Viral's EGF
production strain. The agreement provides that the Company will make the following payments upon the achievement
of certain milestones under the agreement: [i] U.S. $50,000 upon initiation of patient enrollment in the first Phase III
clinical trial in North America of the EGF; and [ii] U.S. $80,000 upon the filing of a New Drug Application [“NDA”] with
the United States Food and Drug Administration [“FDA”] for the EGF or within six months of the submission of Phase
III clinical trial results for the EGF to a regulatory body, whichever shall first occur. Furthermore, the Company has
agreed to pay a fee of 5% of sublicensing revenues for EGF and a royalty which may amount to 1% of net sales
revenues received by it from the sale of EGF. The agreement also includes a buy-back clause enabling the Company
to buy back the royalty stream for amounts varying between U.S. $350,000 and U.S. $2,000,000 depending on the
various stages of development. 

1 7 .  S E G M E N T E D  I N FO R M AT I O N

The Company considers itself to be in one business segment, that is the research and development of therapeutic agents.
Following the acquisition of Waratah, the Company's operations are conducted in Canada and the United States. Geographic
segment information is as follows: 

Canada United States
$ $

Net loss (income):
Year ended June 30, 2004 10,562,048 (2,547)
Year ended June 30, 2003 10,236,610 1,346,736

Amortization of capital assets:
Year ended June 30, 2004 111,673 —
Year ended June 30, 2003 94,899 38,813

Interest income (expense), net:
Year ended June 30, 2004 261,137 684
Year ended June 30, 2003 44,635 (5,569)

Recovery of (provision for) income taxes - current:
Year ended June 30, 2004 — 38,351
Year ended June 30, 2003 — (116,500)

Recovery of (provision for) income taxes - future:
Year ended June 30, 2004 3,102,489 40,027
Year ended June 30, 2003 3,233,873 66,250

Technology
June 30, 2004 22,436,674 —
June 30, 2003 31,020,940 —

Capital assets, net:
June 30, 2004 440,783 —
June 30, 2003 403,404 65,706
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1 8 .  G U A R A N T E E S

The Company indemnifies its directors and officers against any and all claims or losses reasonably incurred in the
performance of their service to the Company to the extent permitted by law. The Company has acquired and maintains
liability insurance for its directors and officers.

1 9 .  S U B S E Q U E N T  E V E N T S

[a] In August 2004, the Company signed the Licensing Agreement with Novo Nordisk to develop the I.N.T.™ technology.
Under the terms of the Licensing Agreement, Novo Nordisk received exclusive worldwide rights to the I.N.T.™ technology
except for I.N.T.™ for transplantation. In exchange for this license, Novo Nordisk will pay to the Company up-front and
milestone payments which, assuming all development milestones are achieved, will total U.S. $48 million, an equity
investment in the Company of $6 million and commercial milestone payments and royalty payments on net sales. In
addition, Novo Nordisk will assume all future costs for the development for the licensed I.N.T.™ technology.

The Licensing Agreement also provides for the Company to continue advancing programs that are already in clinical
development, specifically E1-I.N.T.™. In October 2004, the Company announced that it has received clearance from the
FDA to initiate a clinical trial for E1-I.N.T.™, in patients with type I diabetes, to evaluate efficacy, safety and tolerability
and that it intends to expand these trials into type II diabetes patients in the near future. The Company, will fund
development of these trials until Novo Nordisk takes over the program, at its option, at which point Novo Nordisk will
retroactively reimburse the Company for costs incurred.

Under the terms of the Licensing Agreement, Novo Nordisk has purchased 5,000,000 common shares of the Company at
a price of $1.20 per share through a private placement for a total amount of $6 million.  The net cash proceeds of the
private placement are expected to be approximately $5,980,000. 

[b] On October 4, 2004, the Company signed an agreement to sell one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, SCT, whose only
significant asset is technology (see note 8). SCT is developing a series of regenerative therapies for the treatment of
neurological diseases including stroke and Parkinson’s disease. The agreement includes an upfront cash payment of
$325,000, anniversary payments totaling $3.175 million that may be settled in either cash or shares at the option of the
purchaser and royalties on sales and other income.

The Company anticipates that this transaction will not be recorded as a sale for accounting purposes as the risks and
rewards of the ownership of SCT have not been transferred to the purchaser under the terms of the share purchase
agreement. The Company does not anticipate that the transaction will qualify for sale accounting within the next twelve
months. Therefore, the Company does not plan to reclassify the assets and liabilities of SCT as held for sale as of the
date it entered into the transaction. In the future, if circumstances change such that a transfer of the risks and rewards
to the purchaser is expected within the next twelve months, the Company will reclassify SCT’s assets and liabilities as
Held For Sale at that time.

[c] Subsequent to June 30, 2004, the Company issued 640,596 common shares for total cash proceeds of $427,680 through
the exercise of 500,000 share purchase warrants and 140,596 stock options. 
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CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements. Readers are referred to the section entitled, “FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS”, on page 16 of the Annual Report.
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